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APl is an international business manufacturing in the United Kingdom,
USA and China. It sells into three broad product markets, where there
is potential for growth and development.

Products and processes

Premium Packaging

APl has a significant presence in this global
market where it specialises in metallic
decorative effects, offering a compiete portfolic
of holographic designs, metallised laminates,
hot stamping foils and metallised paper.

The Group is the only supplier abie to offer the
whole range of such products, pesitioning it as
a solutions provider, Strong positions have been
built supplying to its mature markets in the
packaging and labeliing of tobacco, spirits,
perfurnes and confectionery.

Growth trends for the Group are evident in
the newer premium packaging markets for
phammaceuticals, health and beauty products
and speciality foods.

Self Adhesive Products

APl s present in selected niches of this
extensive market, covering products from labels
and packing list envelopes to office products.

The Group also supplies self-adhesive labels,

continuous computer labels and self adhesive
transparent coverings for surface protection.
MNon-adhesive products find applications from
supermarket labels to event tickets.

Security

The market for security solutions to protect
against counterfeiting, product diversion and
retail theft is growing rapidly, driven by the
glabalisation of high value brand names.

APl develops and supplies holographic products
and design services to major brand owners and
government autharities to assist in protecting
brand revenues, reputations and national tax
revenues.

AP continues to develop a range of products
and services for this worldwide market sector,
API% product range and customer base,
supplying prermium packaging for prestige
brands, makes AP} a natural choice for the
supply of cost effective security measures, and
provides an obvious base for future growth in
both products and services,

Processes

The Group's manufacturing processes involve
the coating, metallising, embossing, lamination
and printing of a variety of materials including
paper, board and a wide range of plastic fitrms.

The Feils and Laminates and Metallised Paper
divisions spedialise in decorative metallic
finishes and functional products based around
the latest coating, laminating and direct
metallising technologies.

The Converted Products division produces film
and paper preducts for self adhesive and
flexible packaging applications. This division
has the added advantage of vertical
integration, enabling service levels to be
enhanced by the ready availability of primary
raw materials from within the operating
business. The resulting controf of the supply
chain offers security and refiability of supply
across the extensive range of products offered
by the division.
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The year in summary

Year of reorganisation expetted to show benefits in 2002

“This has been a challenging year in which new management has reorganised
the Group, focused production, taken cost out and introduced new products -
all against a difficult trading background. However, much has been achieved

and the benefits will flow through to improve profitability and reduce
borrowings this year.”

Financial summary

Sales of £183.4m (£188.8m)

Operating loss (before goodwill amortisation and exceptional items) £2.9m
(£12.3m profit)

Loss before tax, goodwill amortisation and exceptional items of £4.5m
(£11.6m profit) reflecting continuing difficult trading conditions and
business disruption resulting from plant rationalisation programmes

Exceptional items of £24.5m of which £24.4m charged in the first half
Adjusted loss per share of 15.4p (22.4p profit)

No final dividend

Net assets per share 204p and balance sheet gearing of 34%

Progress has been made in focusing the Group, including:
- site rationalisation programme in Europe now complete
- new management in place with shortened reporting lines
- low cost product sourcing from China

2002 will benefit from rationalisation, new capacity and cost reduction
programmes to create annualised savings of £6m




Chairman’s Statement

2002 will benefit from rationalisation,

new capacity and cost reduction programmes
to create annualised savings of £6m

This has been a chalienging year in which
new management has re-grganised the
Group, focused production, taken cost out
and introduced new products - all against a
difficult trading background. However, much
has been achieved and the benefits will flow
through to improve profitability and reduce
borrowings this year.

FINANCIAL RESULTS

Turnover for the year ended 30 September
2001 fell by 3% to £183.4m (£188.8m).
After adjusting for the effect of the
Metallised Paper acquisition the fike-for-like
dedline was 7%. The foils businesses in
Europe and the United States accounted for
the bulk of the fall, while Shen Yong
experienced good growth.

An operating loss of £2.9m (£12.3m profit)
reflected the continuing difficult trading
conditions across the Group and compared
with & profit of £0.3 million at the half year,
Interest payable increased the loss to £4.5m
{£11.6m profit). Exceptional items of
£24.5m and goodwill amortisation of £0.9m
totalled £25.4m (£15.7m); of the £24.5m,
£24.1m was charged in the first half.
Exceptional iterns comprised goodwill
written off of £12.8m, site rationatisation,
management restructuring and related costs
of £10.6m and provision against the ESOP
shares of £1.1m. The FRS3 attributable loss
per share was 91.7p (foss 21.5p). No finai
dividend is proposed.

The Group experienced an overall cash
outflow of £11.7m in the year. A £12.4m
reduction in working capital has 1o a certain
extent offset poor trading resuits and the
costs of the rationalisation programme.
After taking into account cash and short-
term investments in China of £7.3m, net
borrowings increased to £23.7m (£12.0m),
equivalent to gearing of 34% (12%).
Sterling bank facilities total £40m.




Net capital expenditure ini-the year -
amounted to £11.5 milliors including
commitments of £3.5 million carried over
from the previous year and £3.6 million of
expenditure on the site rationalisation
programme, For the current year, capital
expenditure is planned to be significantiy less
than the depreciation charge of some £8.0m.

PEOPLE

At Board level, Derek Ashiey joined the
Group in February 2001 as Chief Executive,
naving previously worked in the United
States as CEO of AGT inc., a publicly traded
US company in the graphics industry.

In September, | succeeded Moger Woolley as
non-executive Chairman and Mecger will
retire a$ a director at the AGM. Moger had
served APl as Chairman since 1992 and he
became Executive Chairman frorn July 2000
until Derek Ashley jeined in February 2001.

Dennis Halt resigned from the Board on

3 December 2001. Dennis had been Finance
Director of the Group since 1990. The Board
acknowledges the contribution of Moger
and Dennis to the development of the
Groug and are grateful to Moger for
assuming the role of Executive Chairman on
an interim basis.

On 3 December 2001 David Walton was
appointed as Group Finance Director. David
was previousiy a Senior Vice President of
AGT Inc. Richard Wright joined the Board as
a nen-executive director in September.
Richiard has had a successful career in sales
and marketing and has been a senior
executive of the Ford Motor Comipany for
13 years. We welcome David and Richard to
the Board.

We acknowledge the continuing effort and
commitment of alf our employees during what
has heen a chailenging year for the Group.

OUTLOOK

The achievement of a more acceptabie result
in 2002 rests upon CuUr success in stemming
the losses in hoth the United States and in
the Metallised Paper businesses, which
together lost £6.7m before central costs in
2001. significant progress is being made
during the current year towards our
objective of eliminating these Jossas,

In the Converted Products division we have
invested in excess of £6.0m, from which we
expect improving returns in 2002. We are
confident that the management changes
and other initiatives will produce an
improvament in performance.

The fast year has been difficult for API,
however a great deal has heen achieved
and i belleve that we are on the right track
to deliver much improved returns to
shareholders over the next year.

JINRAAY

David Hudd
Non-Executive Chairman
3 December 2001

The last year has been difficult for API,
however a great deal has been achieved and | believe

that we are on the right track to deliver much improved

returns to shareholders gver the next yeat.

A Group:pic




APl Group plc

Chief Executive’s Review

Chief Executive’s Review

The poor results for the financial year 2001
reflect the combined effect of competitive
trading conditions and the disruption caused
by the major rationalisation programme
across the Group's European businesses.

However, substantial progress has been
made in the year, new management has
been recruited and the Group is being
reorganised %o restore profitability and 1o
generate positive cash flow.

Five major site rationalisation projects were
undertaken during the vear. In aggregate,
these projects involved 200 job losses and
will produce annual cost savings of some
£6m with effect from 2002:

s Closure of the laminates manufacturing
site in Rochdale and transfer of equipment
to Poynton, completed in September

» Conversion of the Salford facility to
a secure operation for the production
of specialist foils, initiated during the
second half

e Concentration of European foil
manufacturing at Livingston, completed
in May

» Consolidation of the Metallised Paper
business at Caerphilly following closure of
the plant at Lyme Green

« Relocation of Fiimcast to a new site in
Nelson and carnmissioning of 2 new cast
polypropylene co-extrusion line,
completed in August

tn addition to the site rationalisations, a
number of management changes have been
made in the Group with the focus on under-
performing businesses. In the metallised
paper operation, a new management team
is now in place with a clear brief to bring the
business to break even this financial year.

The glohal foils business has been
restructured and a layer of management has
been rernoved. In the United States and in

Converted Products new management is in
place. The Group’s Head Office is being
relocated to Poynton to share accommodation
with the Laminates operation.

Eisewhere in the Group, with the notable
exceptions of Shen Yong in China and
European Laminates, the performance has
been disappointing. We intend therefore to
concentrate on those areas of activity where
we can leverage our expertise. In doing so
we will bring more focus to APl and reduce
non-productive costs.

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS

Foils and Laminates

Operating performance dedined substantially
from 2000 profits of £12.7m to £2.4m in
2001 (before goodwill and exceptional
costs) on sales down 5% to £111.2m
(£116.7m). Some 80% of this reduction in
profitability was due to decreasing sales
volumes and prices, with higher raw
material costs accounting for the balance.
The US foils business was the primary cause,
maving from profits of £2.4m in 2000 to a
loss of £3.8m, reflecting the falt in high margin
spedality sales for currency and protective
film coatings. The European foils operations
accounted for most of the remaining
shortfall, with profits falling by £3.9m due
to contiruing price erosion as a result of the
weak euro, import penetration and
increased raw material costs. Hawever, Shen
Yong and the European laminates business
were able to maintain their profitability.

in addition 1o the rationalisation programme
designed to reduce costs and improve focus,
divisional management changes have been
made. Fpils is now structured as a single
business servicing worldwide customers
from manufacturing sites in Europe, USA and
China and the European iaminates business
has been consolidated onto a single site. As
a result of this simplified structure a divisional
management layer has been eliminated.

Progress has been made in focusing the Group, including:
- sife rationalisation programme in Europe now complete

- new management in place with shortened reporting lines
- low cost product sourcing from China




neluded in-a seriss of profit improvement
ctions is the introduction of new products
duding the international "SuperGrafix”
range of foils. This “universal” product range
n'be manufactured in API's hot stamping

| plants in the USA, UK and China,
placing a wide range of lower performance
products, improving productivity and
iacxhtatmg lowest cost sourcing.

The key priority in the current year is to
reverse the operating losses incurred in 2001
in the US foils business. A new Foils US Chief
Executive, with turnaround experience, has
been recruited and the senicr management
team has also been strengthened. A wide
ranging product improvement plan is
already paying dividends.

Metallised Paper

Jurnover in the metallised paper business
increased by 17% to £24.4m (£20.8m),
reflecting the first fuil year of the Van Leer
acquisition, The operating loss for the
year was £2.9m (£1.7m loss), with the
performance adversely affected by the
significant disrupticn caused by the move
to Caerphitly,

Numerous technical problemns followed the
re-instatlation of major items of equipment
transferred from the Macdiesfield site. These
were exacerbated by flooding caused by heavy
rainfall in April and a fire at the plant in July.
The result has been that manufacturing
cutput has fallen well below plan.
Canversely, sales order volume has not been
a concern. However, with 85% of sales into
maintand Eurcpe, margins were extramely
tight due to the continued strength of
sterling. A new Divisional Chief Executive
has been appointed and he is implementing
a revised development plan which, although
not as ambitious in velume terms, will
substantially reduce operating costs by
selecting the most beneficial product mix in
terms of productivity and margin.

Converted Products

The division achieved an operating profit of
£0.2m {£3.9m) on sales down 7% to
£47.8m (£51.3m). As with the Foils and
Laminates division, trading deteriorated
further in the second half year with the
operations losing £0.3m compared with a
profit of £0.5m in the first half year.

The Tenza {self adhesive products) and
Learoyd (fiim based flexible packaging}
businesses produced disappointing
performances with substantial reductions in
profits while the Coated Products business
(siliconised release papers) increased profits.
Coated Products continues to have exciting
potential with new film products for medical
and hygiene applications, particularly in the
Far East, and in the introducticn of bakery
papers for the fast food industry.

Tenza's decline in profitability was
attributable to margin reductions, reflecting
selling price pressures, both in the UK and in
export markets, and raw materiai price
increases. Management has responded by
reducing cosis wheraver possible but a
substantial improvement is dependent upon
mare favourable exchange rates and new
product initiatives.

The Learoyd business moved into loss during
the year. The deterioration in performance
was in part caused by the relocation of the
cast polypropylene operation and the
commissicning of a new ce-extrusion line.
Management in the business has been
strengthened and sales initiatives for the
new products available from the ten-colour
press and the new co-extrusion line are
materialising into firm orders. Substantial
organisational changes throughout the
structure of the husiness have been made
which are expected to show benefits later
in 2002,

We acknowledge the continuing effort
-and commitment of all our employees during
what has been a challenging year for the Group.

APY Group ple

PROSPECTS

Trading conditions are expected to remain
competitive across the Group. We have
responded with a series of measures, The
stte rationalisation programme has reducad
our cest base by some £6.0m per annum,
with the full benefits expected in the
current year. In addition, raw material prices
have recently softened which will assist
margins. Our ability to source a standard
range of foil products from Shen Yong will
also be advantageous. The Group is
currently trading in line with our
expectations.

P

Derek Ashiey
Group Chief Executive
3 December 2001
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Financial Review

Exceptional items of £24.5m

OPERATING RESULTS

The £15.2m decline in the operating
performance of the Group from profits of
£12.3m to a loss of £2.9m is principally
attributable to the serious disruption that
occurred during the site rationalisation, sales
price and valume recuctions and increased
raw material costs. Sales dedlined by 3% to
£183.4m and adjusting for the acquisition
of the Metallised paper business in April
2000, fell by 7%. The detailed explanation
of the divisional results is contained in the
Chief Executive’s Review on pages 4 and 5.
Interest charges were £1.6m (£0.7m)
resufting in a loss before tax and exceptional
items and goodwill amortisation of £4.5m
{£11.6m profit).

EXCEPTIONAL ITEMS
Exceptional items of £24.5m were charged
against profit during the year, comprising:

* Site rationalisation, management

restructuring and related costs (£10.6m)
* Goodwill written off, mainly in relation to
the Foils business in the USA (£12.8m)
Write down to market price of 588,000
APl Group ple shares purchased and held
by the trustee of the Group's employee
benefit trust (£1.1m)

-

Site rationalisation, management
restructuring and related costs
During the year, costs totalling £10.6m have
been charged to the profit and loss account
as & result of a major reorganisation,
restructuring and rationafisation programme
throughout the Group. The programme
comprised of five main projects:

* Closure of the laminates manufacturing
site in Rochdale and transfer of equipment
1o Poynton, completed in September

= Conversion of the Satford facility to
a secure operation for the production
of specialist foils, initiated during the
secend half

of which £24.1m charged in the first half

* Concentration of Europaan foil
manufacturing at Livingston, completed
in May

* Consolidation of the Metallised Paper
business at Caerphilly following closure of
the plant at Lyme Green

* Relocation of Filmcast to a new site in
Nelson and commissioning of a new cast
polypropylene co-extrusion line,
completed in August

Goodwill

The majority of the £12.8m of goodwill
written off originally arose on the
acquisition in 1998 of the US based hot
stamping foil business of Astor Universal.
After careful review of US trading it was
concluded that the prospects for the
business did not support its carrying value
tesulting in impairment of the AP Foils Inc.
balance sheet.

TAXATION

Despite reporting a pre-tax lass of £29.9m,
the Group reported a tax credit of only
£0.4m, principally as a result of not
recognising deferred tax assets, which at
30 Septernber 2001 were some £8.0m.

SHAREHOLDERS' FUNDS
Sharehoiders' funds have reduced by £30m
from £99.1m to £69.1m. The decrease
reflects the loss after tax and minaority
interests for the year of £30.5m offset by
the translation gain on foreign currency net
investments of £0.5m,

CASH FLOW AND BANK
BALANCES

The Group experienced an overall cash
outflow of £11.7m before short-term
investments made and loans received. Net
Group borrowings at the year end totalled
£23.7m (£12.0m).

There was an operating cash inflow of
£6.8m in the period. Depreciation and




amortisation of £8.1rrand 3 £12.3m
redizction in working capital have partially
offset the poor trading results and the
£7.0m cash outlay for rationalisation and
restructuring. Net capital expenditure was
£11.5m, including commitments of £3.5m
carried over from the previous year, mainly
in connection with the construction of
Fitmcast's new building and installation of a
cast polypropylene co-extrusion line. Also
included was £3.6m for expenditure
involved in the site rationalisation
pragramme bringing total one-cff cash
spend in the year to £10.6m. Capital
expenditure in 20C2 is planned to be
substantiaily below depreciation of £8.0m.

Subseguent to the year end new bank
facilities of £40.0m were agreed with
Barclays Bank pic. These facilities, which are
due for renewal in November 2002, are
secured by legal charges on the Group's UK
properties and certain other UK assets.

TREASURY AND FUNDING

The Group’s Chinese subsidiary, Shen Yong,
has made dividend payments 10 its APl
patent, which received £1.1m, and to the
minority interests. The size of the dividend is
based on distributable profits available
rather than the availabiiity of cash. It is
anticipated that further dividends will be
remitted in 2002 and a portion of the
surplus cash held in China will be utifised in
further developing the business into
holographic and cther higher margin
products.

The Group continually reviews its approach
to interest rate management. Control over
treasury management is exercised by the
Board through the setting of policy and
review of rolling cash flow forecasts. The net
interest charge of £1.6m (2000: £0.7m)
reflects the higher level of debt. The Group
utilises short-term variable rate facilities and
in China, where there are surplus funds,

investments in Government Bonds are made
to obtain a better rate of return than
available an bank depaesits.

Sales and purchases in overseas currencies
are forecast forward 6 months and, where
appropriate, forward contracts are entered
into to reduce exposure to exchange rate
volatility. Where possible, the Group seeks
to benefit from natural hedges by
contracting purchases for raw materials in
the relevant overseas currencies. It is the
Group’s palicy that no trading in financial
instruments shail be undertaken. 28% of
the Group's sales are to continental Europe
and the Group makes use of euro accounts
to pool the different currencies associated
with these transactions. This exposure to
European customers and the continuing
weakness of the euro is reflected in the
results for the year.

The Greup continues to protect most of its
exposure to potential bad debis through the
use of credit insurance.

EARNINGS PER SHARE

Lasses per share for the year were 91.7p
(2000: 21.5p). In addition to the losses per
share calkculated in accordance with FRS3,
the Group has disclosed losses per share
adjusted for exceptional items and goodwill
amortisation. Adjusted losses per share were
15.4p {2000: 22.4p earnings) and full details
of the calculation are shown in note 8,
Management consider that the calculation
of adjusted losses per share is an
appropriate and consistent measure of the
Group’s performance.

PENSION SCHEMES

The new standard, FRS 17 Retirernent
Benefits, has introduced significant changes
in accounting for defined benefit schemes.
Full adoption of the standard will not be
required in API's case until the financial year
ending 30 September 2003. For the year

APY .Group' ple

ended 30 September 2001 FRS 17 requires
disclosurz of the closing Balance Sheet
information in note form only. The reguired
infermation is set out on page 40 note 18.
The UK and US schemes are showing FRS 17
deficits as at 30 September 2001, this
adverse result being greatly influenced by
the recent decline in the World's stock
markets.

A

David Walton, Group Finance Director
3 December 2001
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AFl Group plc

Directors’ Report

The Directars present their Annual Report and the
financial statements for the year ended 30 September
2001, The Annual Report alse includes the Board’s
statement on its corporate governance policies and
procedures, confirmation of the Board's remuneration
policy and details of how it applies that policy.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group's results for the year, togather with the
appropriations made and proposed, are set out in the
Group profit and loss account on page 24. The Group
incurred a pre-tax loss of £29.9m (2000: £4.1m) after
charging exceptional costs of £24.5m (2000: £14.6m).
Loss after tax and minority interests amounted to
£30.5m (2000: £7.2m). The adjusted losses per
ordinary share were 15.4 p {2000: 22.4 p earnings per
share). In the light of the Group's resuits, the Directors
do not recommend the payment of a dividend. itis
proposed that the loss for the year 2mounting to
£30.5m (2000: £12.2m) will be set against reserves.

ACTIVITIES

APt Group plc is the holding company of a group of
manufacturing cornpanies which operate
internationally and in the foliowing market sectors.
foils and laminates, converted products, metallised
paper, and security - related products. A review of the
Group’s activities and intended future developments is
contained in the Group Chief Executive’s Review on
pages 4 and 5. The Group's research and devefopment
pregramme focuses on the introduction of new and
improved products and the application of technoiogy
1o improve service to the Group’s customers, reduce
costs and improve margins. An analysis of turnover,
profitloss before interest and taxation and net
operating assets by geographical area and by activity is
set out in note 2 on page 32. The principal operating
companies of the Group are listed on page 46.

DIRECTORS

The Directars of the Company who served during the
year are shown on page 8, save that David Walton was
not appointed 1o the Board untit 3 December 2001
and Dennis Holt served during the year as Group
Finance Director, resigning from the Board on

3 December 2001. Information about the Directors is
set out below and details of the remuneration
packages and service contracts of Directors appear
below under the headings “Remuneration” and
"Detalls of Directors Remuneration and Emcluments”.
Details of how the Board and the principal Board
Committees cperate are set out below and under the
heading "Board Committees” on page 11 and also

unider the heading “Corporate Governance” on pages
14t017.

The Board currently comprises a non-executive

Chairman, two executive Directors and three non-
executive Directors, as follows:

David Hudd, 56, {(non-executive Chairmarn) joined the
Board on 2 july 1998 and was appointed Chairman on
3 September 2001. He is a Chartered Accountant and
was a partner in Price Waterhouse untii 1982. Since
then, he has been Chairman or Chief Executive of a
number of listed companies. He was, until April 1998,
Executive Chairman of Vardon plc (now Cannons
Group PLC), 2 company he founded. He is also
currently & non-executive director of Forest Garden
{Holdings) [td and of Paramount plc. David Hudd is
the Chairman of the Company’s Remuneration and
Nominations Committees and is a member of the
Audit Committee.

Derek Ashley, 41, {Group Chief Executive} is a
Chartered Accountant and joined the Company on
15 January 2001 and was appointed to the Board on 8
February 2001, Prior to joining the Company, he was
the Chief Executive Officer of the NASDAQ listed USA
group, Applied Graphics Technologies, Inc., which he
joined foliowing its acquisitior: of Wace Group plc in
1999 - where he had been Group Chief Executive
since May 1988, Prior to ioining Wace Group ple, he
had held a senior position with Ernst & Youny. Derek
Ashley is a member of the Company’s Nomination
Committea.

David Walton, 36, {Group Finance Director) is a
Chartered Accountant and joined the Board on

3 December 2001. He was previously a senior Vice
President of the NASDAQ listed USA group, Applied
Graphics Technologies, Inc., prior to which he worked
for Wace Group plc and Ernst & Young Corporate
Finance. He has fuffilled both financial and operational
roles and has worked in the United States, France and
Asia Pacific.

Moger Woollay, 66, (non-executive Directar) joined the
Board on 6 February 1992 as non-executive Chairman
and, save for a short period as Executive Chairman
{July 2000 to February 2001}, he continued as non-
executive Chairman until 3 September 2001, when he
stepped down as Chairman although, at the request of
the Board, he has remained a non-executive Director.
He will retire from the Board at the forthcoming
Annual General Meeting in February 2002. Until 1989,
he was Chief Executive of DRG plc and is currently a
non-executive director of Brunel Holdings pic and non-
executive Chairman of Bristol Water (Holdings) plc. He
is also Chairman of the Council of the University of
Bristol. Moger Wooiley is a member of the Company's
Nominations, Audit and Remuneration Committees.

John Sheldrick, 52, (non-executive Director) joined the




Board on 10 February 1995. He has an MA from
Cambridge University, an MSc in Management
Sciences from the University of Manchester Institute of
Science and Technotogy and is a Chartered
Management Accountant. John Sheldrick is Group
Finance Director of Johnson Matthey plc with
responsibility for both finance and systems and the
Pharmaceuticals Materials Division. Prior to joining
Johnson Matthey plc in September 1990, he was the
Group Treasurer of The BOC Group pke. John Sheldrick
has been nominated by the Board as the senicr
independent Director and is the Chairman of the
Company’s Audit Committee and a member of the
Remuneration and Nominations Committees.

Richard Wright, 58, (non-executive Director) joined the
Board on 3 September 2001. He holds a post-graduate
degree in Business Management from Leeds University
and is a Fellow of the Chartered Institute of Marketing.
Richard Wright has held senior executive roles with the
Ford Matar Company since 1989 including, since 1999,
Director, Sales and from 1996 to 1999, President &
Managing Director of Ford Belgium. Prior 1o joining the
Ford Mator Company, he was with Jaguar Cars,
Internaticnal Harvester and JCB. Richard Wright is a
member of the Audit, Nominations and Remuneration
Committees.

In addition, Dennis Holt, 57, served during the year as
Group Finance Director. He is a Chartered
Management Accountant, jeined the Board on

17 September 1990 as Group Finance Director and
resigned from the Board on 3 December 2001. He was
formerly Finance Director of The East Lancashire Paper
Group plc from 1975 to 1985 and Microvitec plc from
1985 to 1990, both publicy quoted comparties.

All the Directors are subject to retirement by rotation
every three years under the Company’s Articles of
Assaciation. The Director retiring by rotaticn at the
forthcoming Annual General Mezting is David Hudd
and, being eligible, offers himself for re-election. Derek
Ashley, Richard Wright and David Walton were
appointed to the Board foilowing the 2001 Annual
General Meeting and, accordingly, each of thermn will
retire at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting and
each of them has indicated that he will offer himself
for election at that meeting.

During the year the Company maintained liability
insurance for its Directors and Officers.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS

The interests of the Directors in the issued shares and
share options over the shares of the Company are set
aut below under the heading “Birectors’ interests in

Shares” on page 22. During the year, no Director had
an interest in any significant contract refating to the
business of the Company or its subsidiaries other than
the service contracts of certain Directors.

BOARD COMMITTEES
The three principal standing committess of the Board

are the Audit, Nominations and Remuneration
Committees.

The Audit Committee comprises: John Sheldrick, David
Hudd, Moger Woolley and Richard Wright and is
chaired by John Sheldrick. The Company's Auditors are
normally in attendance. The Audit Committes reviews
the internal and external zudit activities, menitors
compliance with statutory requirements for finandal
reporting and reviews the half year and annual
finandial statements before they are prasented to the
Board for approval. The terms of reference of the
Audit Committee also include keeping under review
the scope and results of the audit and its cost
effectiveness and the independence and objectivity of
the Auditors, The Committee is also required 1o review
the nature and extent of non-audit services provided
by the Auditors {in order to seek to balance the
maintenance of cbjectivity and value for money), the
effectiveness of the Group’s internal contrel systems
and the scope and remit of the Company’s internal
audit function.

The Nominations Committee comprises David Hudd,
Berek Ashley, John Sheldrick, Moger Woolley and
Richard Wright and is chaired by David Hudd. The
Committee is responsible for nominating candidates
(both executive and non-executive) for the approval of
the Board to fill vacancies or appeint additional
persons 1o the Board. It is also respansibie for making
recommendations regarding the composition and
balance of the Board.

Details of the Rernuneration Committes, its members,
terms of reference, and activities, are set out below
under the heading "Remuneration” on page 7.

The Group Company Secretary acts as Secretary to the
Committees and keeps appropriate records of their
proceedings.

GROUP ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY

The Group remains committed to achieving high
environmental standards in its worldwide operations.
As part of its risk management programme, the Board
has implemented a range of pelicies and procedures to
achieve this objective. High standards of environmental
compliance are maintained through a programme of
continuous improvement in line with locally applicable
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envirenmental laws and regulations. As part of this
programme, year on year improvements in areas of
environmental risk are targeted and the environmental
standards of major suppiiers are monitored. Externally
verified audits are carried out throughout the Group.

A number of the Group’s UK subsidiaries have
achieved certification to the international
environmental standard 1$0 14001 with others
currently working on the implementation programme,
Operations in the USA all comply with State and
Federal regulations, whilst in China there is a
programme underway to improve the overall
environmental performance of the operations in
Shanghai,

External and internal training programmes ensure that
all employees have an understanding of the impact
their actions can have on the environment. The Group
Chief Executive is accountable to the Board for the
overall supervision of environmental compliance, with
day to day responsibility vested in subsidiary company
Chief Executives.

The Group% environmental policies and procedures
focus on three key areas: the reduction of solvent

emissions, waste management, and the efficient use of
energy.

Solvent Emissions: The Group has minimised the
consumptior: of solvents in its manufacturing processes
by substituting, where possible, water based coatings
and adhesives, although cpportunities for substitution
are limited. The abatement of volatile organic
compound emissions into the atmosphere from the
use of solvents remains the mast significant element in
the Group’s enviranmental prograrame. The Group
complies with all solvent emission standards in force in
each geographic area of manufacture. Capital
expenditure has been incurred during the current
financial year of £1.3m for solvent incineration,
bringing expenditure over recent years on solvent
incineration to £5.3m.

Waste Management: During the year, all the Group’s
operations have continued to seek reductions in the
level of waste products and materials arising from the
Greup’s manufacturing processes - through continuous
monitoring and strict controls. All waste is segregated
and, wherever possible, recycled. Hazardous waste is
securely stored prior to disposal by external spedialist
contractors. In the UK, these processes are managed in
accordance with the Hazardous Waste Regulations and
the Group’s UK operations also comply with The
Producer Responsibility Obligations {Packaging Waste)
Regulations 1997 and the Group is a member of the
Valpak Compliance Scheme.

The Efficient Use of Energy: The Group is not a
major user of energy, but usage is regularly monitored
and reviewed by members of the Group's senior
managerment team. Methods of reducing energy usage
are examined from time to time: one such example is
the use of surpius heat generated in the incineration
of waste solvenits ta provide drying and chilling capacity
in the process of manufacturing metaflised paper.

HEALTH & SAFETY IN THE GROUP

The Group’s commitment to the health, safety and
welfare of its employees and third parties who may be
affected by the Group’s operations is paramount. In
order to ensure the provision of safe working
conditions, the Board encourages the Group’s
operating units to implement a structured approach to
managing health and safety issues. The focus of the
Group’s efforts is to prevent accidents and incidents
occurring by identifying risks and empiloying
appropriate control strategies. This is supplemented by
a policy of investigating and recording all incidents.

in conjunction with independent advisers, a “Health &
Safety Audit Programme* is in piace. The Board also
seeks to ensure that best practice is identified and can
be achieved at each location and actively encourages
knowledge sharing on heatth and safety issues
throughout the Group. During the year under review,
independent audits were completed at all UK
operating units. In 2000, the Group received an award
from the Group’s insurers in recognition of the leve! of
risk awareness of employees, and the high standards
achieved in terms of health and safety systems and
processes.

The Group is committed to;

* ensuring that all Group personnel with specific
responsibilities for health & safety maintain high
standards of competence;

* plans for achieving continual improvement in health
and safety performance standards in each business
unit;

* monitoring the Group's performance by conducting
benchmarked audits in each business unit at a
frequency of at least once every two years; and

* improving the quality of the reporting of the
information received.

CONTINUOUS IMPROVEMENT

The Group aspires to attain high standards of practice
irt its operations through continuous improvement
programmes encompassing all aspects of cperational
procedures. These programmes are implemented




through teams comprising all empioyee levels. The
Group has derived considerable benefits from these
programmes and, in particular, cost containment and
improvements in efficiency.

EMPLOYEES

The group is aware of the importance of good
relationships and communication with employees. The
Group continues to inform employees of the progress
of its businesses recognising the vaiue that can be
added to its future profitability and strength by the
efforts of employees. Copies of the Annual Report and
Financial Statements, together with preliminary and
interim announcaments of the Group’s results are
made available to them.

The Company does not impose & formalised uniform
policy on employee involvement and the Group’s
operating subsidiaries rely on communication and
consuitaticn at site level. Training and development of
empioyees through the Group’s management
development programme femains a priority. “Investor
in People” accreditation has been achieved throughout
the UK operations.

Both emgployment policy and practice in the Group are
based on non-discrimination and equal opportunity
irrespective of age, race, refigion, sex, colour and
marital status. The Group endeavours to employ and
train disabied people and their aptitudes and abifities
are realistically assessed and taken fully into account
when suitable vacancies occur. Disabled employees
have the same opportunities as other employees so far
as training, career development and promotion are
concerned.

The Group’s pensicn arrangements for employees are
summarised in note 18 on page 39.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SUBSTANTIAL INTERESTS IN
SHARES

No shares were issued during the year under review.
Further information about the Company's share capital
is given in note 2G on page 42. The Company operates
executive share option schemes and arrangements,
details of which can be found on pages 18 and 19 and
in note 20 on page 42,

The Company has been notified of the following
substantial interests in the issued ordinary shares of the
Company as at 3 December 2001.

% of issued
share capital

Fidelity international Limited

10.56%
CGNU 6.93%
Axa Investment Management UK Limited 5.19%
Legal & General investment
Management Limited 4.84%
Deutsche Asset Management Group Limited  4.82%
Edinburgh Fund Managers Group pic 4.63%
Hermes Administration Services Limited 4.58%
Perpetual plc 4.45%
Standard Life lnwestments Limited 3.68%
Prudential plc 3.54%
Universities Superannuation Scheme 3.32%
JP Morgan Fleming Asset Management
(UK) Limited 3.31%
Merrill Lynch Investment Managers Ltd 3.25%

Except as disclosed above, as at 3 December 2001, the
Directors were not aware of any interests amounting to
3% or more in the issued share capital of the
Company.

PAYMENTS TO SUPPLIERS

The Group's policy is normally to pay suppliers
according tc agreed terms of business. These terms are
agreed with suppliers upon entering into contracts and
the Groug's policy is to adhere to the payment terms
providing the supplier meets its obligations. The
Company is a holding company and had no trade
creditors at the end of the finandal year.

CHARITABLE AND POLITICAL DONATIONS

Charitable donations made by the Group during the
year amounted to £3,338 (2000: £8,016). There were
no pelitical donations.

AUDITORS

On 28 June 2001, Ernst & Young, the Company’s
auditar, transferred its entive business to Ernst & Yaung
LLP, a limited lizbility partnership incorporated under
the Limited Liability Partnership Act 2000. The Directors
consented 1o treating the appointment of Ernst &
Young as extending to Ernst & Young LLP with effect
from 28 June 2001. A resolution propesing the re-
appeintment of Ernst & Young LLP will be put to
shareholders at the Annual General Meeting.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The Company’s Annual General Meeting will be held at
the offices of the Company’s Solicitors: Addleshaw
Booth & Co - 25 Cannon Street, London, EC4M 5TB
on 5 February 2002 at 11.0C0am. The Notice of the
Annual General Meeting and a description of the
special business to be put to the meeting is contained
in the separate circular to sharzsholders which
accompanies these Annual Reports and Accounts.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Board is responsible for the governance of the
Company, governance being the systems and
procedures by which the Company is directed and
controlled. A prescribed set of rules does not itself
determine good governance or stewardship of a
company and, in fulfilling their responsibilities, the
Directors believe that they govern the Company in the
best interests of shareholders, whilst having due regard
to the interests of other “stakeholders” in the Group
including, in particular, customers, employees and
creditors. In addition, the policy of the Board is to
manage the affairs of the Company in accordance with
the principles of Good Governance and the Code
Provisions set out in Section 1 of the Combined Code
on Corporate Governance appended to the Usting
Rules of the UK Listing Authority (“the Combined
Coda®).

For the year under review the Company has complied
in all respects with the Combined Code except as
follows:

¢ Under the terms of the contract under which
Moger Woolley was appointed 10 the Board as
non-executive Chairman in 1992 (as subsequently
amended) his appointment could be terminated by
12 months’ notice from the Company or from
Moger Woolley (which could be given at any time).
With the agreement of Moger Wooltey, this
contract was terminated on 3 September 2001,
when he stepped down as non-executive
Chairman. At that time, he agreed to continue as a
non-execytive Director under an appointment letter
in terms similar to those appilicable to the other
non-executive Directors - afthough the appointmeant
under that letter will terminate at the condusion of
the Annual General Meeting on 5 February 2002.

¢ The Combined Code states that “there is a strong
tase for setting notice or contract perjods at, or
reducing them to, one year or less”. The service
contract of Dennis Holt provides for a notice period
of two years, The background and reasons for this
notice period is given below under the heading
“Termination” on page 19. The service contracts
for both Derek Ashley and David Walton can be
terminated by the Company giving 12 months’
notice.

* The Combined Code states that a decision to
combine the posts of Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer in one position shouid be publicly justified.
On 10 July 2000, following the departure of the
previaus Group Chief Executive from the Company
on that date, Moger Waolley was appointed by the
Board as Executive Chairman pending the
appointment of a2 new Group Chief Executive.

Following Derek Ashley joining the Company in
Januaty 2001, Moger Woolley resumed the position
of non-executive Chairman. The Board decided to
appoint Moger Woolley to the position of Executive
Chairman on a temporary basis since the Group's
management team needed clear leadership
pending the appointment of a new Group Chief
Executive. In appointing Moger Woolley to this
position, the Board took account of his background
and experience.

* In addition, the Combined Code states that the
Remuneration Committee should consist exclusively
of non-executive directors who are independent of
management and that the Audit Committee should
comprise of at least three directors, all of whom
should be non-executive. Whilst Moger Woolley
held the position of Executive Chairrnan, he also
remained & member of the Audit and
Remuneration Committees. Given that Moger
Wooliey would be resuming his position as non-
executive Chairman foliowing the appointment of
Derek Ashley, the Board believed that it was nat
appropriate for Moger Woolley to step down from
those Committees in the interim period.

The foliowing Parts of this Report, which refiect the
provisions of the Combined Code, describe the Board’s
appreach to some key areas of corporate governance
and how the principies of the Combined Code are
applied. The provisions of the Combined Code
applicable to the Company are divided into four Parts:

Part A: Directors

Part B: Directors’ Remuneration
Part C: Relations with Shareholders
Part D: Accountability and Audit

Part A: Directors

The Board currently comprises a non-executive
Chairman, two full-time executive Directors, and three
non-executive Directors. It is the policy of the
Norminations Committee and the Board to maintain an
appropriate balance between executive and non-
executive Directors. As refiected in the biographical
details of the Directors given in the Directors’ Report
on pages 10 and 11, the Directors have a wide range
of business, general and international experience
which they can contribute to the Group.

The non-executive Directors are considered to be
independent of management and free from any
business or other relationships which could materially
interfere with the exercise of their independent
judgement. The Chairman is primarily responsible for
the workings of the Board and ensuring that its role is
achieved and he will not be involved in day 1o day
operational issues. Save for matters reserved for the




Board, the Group Chief Executive is responsible for the
running of the Group's business, carrying out the
agreed strategy adepted by the Board and
impiementing specific Board dedisions relating to the
operation of the Group.

The Combined Code states that the Board should have
a recognised senior independent Director to whom any
concerns can be conveyed. John Sheldrick has been
elected by the Board as the senior independent
Direcicr.

The Board meets ¢n a regular basis (st least eight
times each year) and appropriate documentation and
financial information is provided in advance of each
Board meeting. These normally include monthly
management accounts, reports on current trading and
papers on matters in respect of which the Board
makes decisions or gives its approval. Regular reports
are given to the Board on such matters as insurances,
treasury issues and pensions and specific presentations
are made on business or strategic issues when
appropriate. Each year, a number of Board meetings
take place at the premises of operating units in the
Group and, during these visits, the Board receives
presentations from the local management teams on
the position and prospacts of those units, These
procedures are intended to ensure that the Board is
supplied in a timely manner with information
appropriate 1¢ enable the Board to discharge its duties.

The Board has a formal schedule of reserve powers,
which it retains for Board decision-making on a range
of key issues, inciuding the formulation of strategy,
treasury and risk management and the remuneration
poiicy for executive Directors and other senior
executives of the Group. A procedure has been
adopted for Directors to obtain independent
professional advice, where appropriate, at the cost of
the Company and all Directors have unrestricted access
to the Company Secretary. In relation 1o non-reserved
matters, the Board is assisted by a number of
committees with delegated authority. The make-up
and roies of the three most important committees: the
Audit, Remuneration and Nominations Committees,
are described on page 11 and (in relation to the
Remuneration Committee) on page 17.

On appointment, Directors are briefed regarding the
activities of the Group and encouraged to visit its
businesses. Manuals, books and training are available
to alt Directors on their duties as Directors.

On appointment, the Company Secretary would
ensure that a new Director has access to appropriate
training or advice which may be relevant. Directors are
also informed regularly on relevant material changes to
laws and regulations affecting the Campany or the
Group's businesses.

Part B: Directors’ Remuneration

Details of Directors' remuneration and emoluments
and the Company's compliance with the Combined
Code’s requirements regarding remuneration matters
are set out below under the headings “Remuneration”
and "Details of Directors’ Remuneration and
Emoluments” on pages 17 to 22.

Part C: Relations with Shareholders

The Company seeks to maintain gocd communications
with shareholders. The executive Directors and the
Chairman make presentations to institutional
shareholders covering the interim and preliminary
results. The Cornpany despatches the notice of Annual
General Meetings, with an explanatory circular
describing items of spacial business, at least 20
working days before the meeting. All shareholders
have the opportunity formally and informally to put
questions at the Company’s Annuat General Meetings
and the Chairman makes a statement on current
trading conditions at that meeting. The Chairmen of
the Audit, Nominations and Remuneration Committees
normally attend the Annual General Meeting and will
answer guestions which may be relevant to the work
of those Committees. The Chairman advises
shareholders on the proxy voting details on each of the
resolutions after the resofution is put to the meeting.

The Company’s Financial Calendar is set out on page
47.

Part D: Accountability and Audit

The respective responsibiiities of the Directors and
Auditers in connection with the financial statements
are explained below under the headings “Statement of
Directors” Responsibifities” on page 17 and
"Respective Responsibilities of Directors ard Auditors”
on page 23.

Further to the publication of the Combined Code in
June 1998 and the report on “Internal Control;
Guidance for Directers on the Combined Code” (the
“Turnbull Guidance”) in September 1999, the UK
Listing Authority requires that all listed companies
follow this guidance when determining their
compliance with the Combined Code. The Directors
confirm that they have established procedures
necessary t¢ implement the Turnbulf Guidance and
have fully complied with it for the year to 30
Septemnber 2001.

The Board has overalf responsibility for ensuring that
the Group maintains a system of internal controls and
the Audit Committee, on behalf of the Board, has
fermally reviewed the effectiveness of the internal
control system of the Group for the year ended 30
September 2001. Internal control systems, by their
nature, can grovide reasonable, but not absolute,
assurance with respect to the preparation of financial
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inforrmation and the safeguarding of assets. It is alsp
recognised that it is the nature of any business that
commercial risk must be taken and, for a business to
succeed, enterprise, initiative and motivation are key
elements to success which should not be unduly
stifled.

The Board’s internal control systern focuses on a wide
range of business and financia! risks.

Business risks: There is an ongoing process for
identifying, evaluating and monitoring the business
risks faced by the Group and this process was in place
for the year under review and up to the date of this
Annual Report. This process is based on self-
assessment and external audits by the Group's
insurance advisers. These self-assessments and audits
involve risk reviews, appraisats and ranking within each
of the Group's businesses, which leads ta the profiling
of the more significant risks. This process and the
profiling of business risks by the Group's businesses are
reported through the Audit Committee to the Board
and, in some cases, may lead to risk improvement
recommendations being agreed for implementation by
the relevant business. The internal auditor monitors
any agreed risk improvement recomrmendations.

Financial risks; In terms of financiat tisks, the key
internal financial control procedures which operated in
the Group throughout the period covered by the
financial statements are as follows:

Control Environment: There is a clear
organisational structure in which levels of authority
and accountability are well defined. The Group's
businesses operate within a framework of
procedures laid down in written manuals and the
Group’s personnel are required to comply with
these procedures as relevant to their functions and
responsibilities. Financial reporting follows generally
accepted accounting practice in all areas,

Identification and Evaluation of Risks and
Control Objectives: The process of risk assessment
and the eveluation of its related financiat impact is
an ongoing process reflected in decision-making at
Group and operating levels. Central review and
approval procedures are in place in respect of major
areas of risk such as acquisitions and disposals,
major contracts, capital expenditure, litigation,
treasury management, taxation and environmental
issues. Wherever practical, duties are segregated
and a high degree of management controf is also
exercised through review by executives of historical
and forecast financial information. Conformity with
procedures is monitored on an ongoing basis with
operating units required to submit a detailed
confirmation of compliance by reference to control

checklists. in addition, the Group has reporting
systems which identify major financial and other
business risks within the Group. Policies and
procedures have been laid down for the regular
review and management of these risks,
underpinned where appropriate by insurance. The
Group’s internal audit function undertakes regular
reviews of the most significant areas of risk and
ensures that key control objectives remain in place.

tnformation and Communication:
Comprehensive information systems are maintained
at Group and operating unit levels and are subject
to scrutiny by the Board as follows:

* detailed budgeting procedures with an annual
budget approval;

* monthly consideration of actual results
compared with budgets and forecasts;

* monthly review of rolling profit and cash fiow
forecasts;

* regular review of the Group capital expenditure
plan; and

* reporting of fegal and accounting developments.

Regular executive and Board meetings and ongoing
site based operational reviews are held with a view
to ensuring variances and discrepancies are
identified and investigated on & timely basis. The
Company also reports to shareholders half-yearly.

Control Procedures: Extensive systems of internal
financial controt (including information systemns
control} are operated throughout the Group with
authority levels established which limit exposure,
There is recognition of personal responsibility and
accountability by the members of the management
teams of the individual operating units. Detailed
control checkiists are required to be signed both
monthly and for other periods as tasks are
completed in accordance with the Group’s policy
manuai. Compliance with legislation is closely
monitored, including compliance with
environmental legisiation.

Internal Audit Function: An internal audit
function is in operation and its work is focused on
areas of greatest risk as identified and approved
gach year by the Audit Committee in consultation
with the Auditors.

Monitoring and Corrective Action: Review of the
control checklists and comprehensive management
information is performed on a timely basis. Any




significant weaknesses are brought to the attention
of the Audit Cormmittee and the Board and
corrective action agreed and impiemented. The
control checklists are reviewed and substantially
verified by the internal auditor and also by the
Auditors as part of their annuai audit. The Auditors
report directly to the Audit Committee.

GOING CONCERN

The Directors consider that, after making appropriate
enquiries and at the time of approving these Accounts,
there is a reasonabie expectation that the Group has
adequate resources to continue in operational
existance for the foreseeabie future. The Directors
therefore continue to adept the going concarn basis in
preparing these accounts.

STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES
Cornpany law requires the Directors to prepare
accounts for each financial year which give a true and
fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of
the Group as at the end of the financial year and of
the profit or loss of the Group for that period. In
preparing those accounts the Directors are required to:

= salect suitable accounting policies and then apply
them consistently;

* make judgements and estimates which are
reasonable and prudent;

= state whether applicable accounting standards have
been followed; and

» prepare the finandial statements on the going
concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume
that the Group will continue in business.

The Directors confirm that these accounts comply with
the above requirements.

The Directors are also responsible for keeping proper
accaunting records which disclose, with reasonable
accuracy at any time, the financial pesition of the
Group and to enable thern to ensure that the accounts
comply with the Companies Act 1985. The Directars
also have a general responsibility at law for taking such
steps that are reasonably open to them to safeguard
the assets of the Group and to prevent and detect
fraud and other irreguiarities.

REMUNERATION

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Commitiee (" Committee”)
comprises David Hudd, John Sheldrick, Moger Woolley
and Richard Wright and is chaired by David Hudd.
Although nat a member of the Cammittee, on
occasions and far matters not related to him, the

Committee would normally consult the Group Chief
Executive on proposals relating to the remuneration of
the other executive Director and members of the
Group's senior management team, and he attends
meetings of the Committee by invitation,

The Committee, on behalf of the Board, determines all
elerments of the remuneration packages of the
executive Directors and certain senior executives of the
Group. It approves the terms of service contracts with
executive Directors and would also approve any
compensation arrangements resulting from the
termination by the Company of a Director's service
contract. The Committee also approves the grant of
share optians. The terms of reference of the
Remuneration Committee include the following:

* to make recommendations to the Board on the
Company's framework of executive remuneraticn
and its cost;

* to review and determine, on behalf of the Board,
the remuneration and incentive packages of the
Company's executive Directors and certain senior
executives of the Group to ensure that they are
fairly rewarded for their individual contributions to
the Company’s overall performance;

* o prepare, of assist the Board in preparing, a report
to shareholders in relation to remuneration in
accordance with the Listing Rules of the UK Listing
Authaority;

» 1o determine the basis on which the employment of
the Company’s executive Directors and certain
senior executives of the Group is terminated; and

* to operate and administer the Company’s share
option schemes and employee benefit trust.

Non-Executive Directors

The remuneration of non-executive Directors, other
than the Chairman, is reviewed and determined by the
other members of the Board. The Remuneration of the
Chairman is reviewed and determined on behalf of the
Board by the other non-executive Directors.

Remuneration Policy

The Committee and the Board recognise that, in order
1o attract and retain a senior management team which
will secure maxirmuen shareholder vatue in a
competitive international environment, it is necessary
to cperate a competitive pay and benefits structure.
The Committee and the Board also seek to link a
significant proportion of remuneration packages to the
individual performance of the executive and the
financial perfarmance (short term and long term) of
the Group. It is the Board's and Committee’s policy t0
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maintain this approach to remuneration packages for
executive Directors and other senior executives of the
Group. To assist with this, the Compmittee receives
regular advice from independent consuftants on the
pay and incentive arrangements prevailing in
comparably sized industrial companies with
international operations. From time to time, the
Committee alse uses, for guidance, published job-
matched surveys of similar companies and specific
surveys are also commissioned. The remuneration of
the individual executive Directors is determined by
reference to that policy and following a review of the
performance of each executive Director and taking into
account any advice received from independent
consultants and data from surveys.

The Directors confirm that when determining the

remuneration policy, full consideration was given to the
Combined Code.

Executive Directors’ Remuneration Packages

The cormpenents of the remuneration packages for the
executive Directors, as reflected in their service
contracts, are as follows:

Basic Salary - which is fixed by the Committee taking
into account from time to time advice of indapendent
consultants and the market leve! for jobs with similar
responsibilities in an appropriate comparator group.
Basic salary is normally reviewed as at 1 October each
year and takes account of individual performance
during the year.

Annual Bonus - annuat bonuses are payable of up to
50% of basic salary; the amount of the bonus payabie
each year normally depends upon the achievement by
the Company of financial and other performance
targets for the relevant financial year established by the
Remuneration Committee. The performance targets for
bonus entitlements are intended by the Committee to
create keen incentives to perform at the highest levels.
These bonus arrangements are such that & significant
propertion of the total remuneration packages of the
executive Directors is directly related to the financial
performance of the Group. The Committee therefore
believes that these arrangements afign the interests of
the executive Directars with thase of shareholders.

Share Options - under the Company's executive share
option schemes, executive Directors and senior
executives have been granted options to acquire
ordinary shares in the Company after a period of three
years from the date of grant, Al outstanding options
have been granted at an option price not less than the
market value at the date of grant. The exercise of
options is conditional upon the achievement of certain
performance criteria. Under the rules of the schemes,
options can normatly only be exercised if, in any period

of three consecutive financial years commencing no
earlier than the beginring of the financial year in
which the option is granted, the earnings per share of
the Company have increased by a percentage being no
less than the percentage increase in the Government's
Retail Price Index during such three financial years (as
determined by the Auditors of the Company). In
respect of all options granted o executive Directors
since February 1298, the exercise conditions require
that the exercise of those options is normally
conditional upor the Company’s adjusted earnings per
share increasing in any period of three consecutive
vears by no less than 9% over the increase in the
Government’s RP| during that three year period. Details
of options granted to Directors and which are
outstandirg are given below. Share aptions are
regarded by the Committee as an additicnal maans of
aligning the interests of the executive Directors with
those of Shareholders. The Company does not
currently intend to introduce a long term incentive
plan. However, at the forthcoming Annual General
Meeting in February 2002, a resolution will be
proposed to adopt new share option plans which will
replace the existing share option schemes. The
background to and reasens for this proposal are set
out in the accompanying Circular to shareholders -
which also incorporates the Notice of the 2002 Annual
General Meeting. The Remuneration Committee
considers that the policy on granting options to
executive Directors described above is appropriate and
reasonable in the context of its general policy on
remuneration described above.

Options for Executive Directors - as a means of
longer term incentivisation options to acquire shares in
the Company have been granted 1o executive directors.

Under the terms of the service contract for Dennis
Holt, and subject to the rules of the Company’s share
option schemes and 1o the performance of the
Company being satisfactory in the opinion of the
Remuneration Committee at the relevant time, the
Company agreed to grant to Dennis Holt following the
annguncement by the Company of its preliminary
results for any year, options over shares 1o & value
equivalent to three quarters’ of his basic salary. Given
the performance of the Company in 2001, no options
were granted to Dennis Holt during that year.

Under the terms of the service contract entered into
with Derek Ashley in December 2000 (as subsequently
amended) in order both to racruit and retain him as
Group Chief Executive (by incentivisation) the Board,
on the recommendation of the Remuneration
Committee, agreed to grant to him an option over the
Company’s shares as described below. The
circumstances surrounding the entering into of this
individual share option arrangement were unusuak: at




the time of entering intc the service contract, the
Company had no Group Chief Executive and had, for
some time, been searching for a suitabie candidate
with an appropriate background and relevant
experience - including international experience, Also,
the finandial and operating performance of the Group
had been deteriorating. The Committee and the Board
were of the view that obtaining and retaining the
services of Derek Ashley as Group Chief Executive
wolild be an essential element of improving the
performance of the Group. By the time the option
arrangement had been entered into (lune 2001}, the
need to retain the services of Derek Ashley as Group
Chief Executive had become even more apparent.

Accordingly, under a deed of grant entered into by the
Company and Derek Ashley on 5 June 2001, the
Company granted an option to Derek Ashley to
acquire up to 571,428 ordinary shares at an option
price of 126p per share {being the average of the mid-
market quotaticns of the Company’s ordinary shares
on each of the 3 dealing days immediately prior to the
entering into of the deed). In normal circumstances the
option will not be exercisable before 15 fanuary 2004
or, if later, following the publication of the Company's
preliminary results for the finandial year ending 30
September 2063 ("the option exercise date”). In any
event, the option will not be capable of exercise after
4 June 2011, The extent ta which the option will be
exercisable following the option axercise date will
depend on the ievel of the Company's adjusted
earnings per share for the financial year ending on 30
September 2003 ¥ these adjusted earnings per share
match the fower target for the adjusted earnings per
share set out in the option deed the option may be
exercised for 25% of the option shares; if the higher
target is achieved the option may be exercised for all
of the option shares. Achievement of targets between
the lower and higher levels will allow the option to be
exarcised for 50% or 75% of option shares.

If following a takeover offer a change of cantrol occurs
on or before 30 September 2002 and the offer price is
at or above the target levet per share then the option
may be partially exercised. If the change of contral
oceurs after 30 September 2002 but before the
publication of the Coampany’s preliminary resuits for
the financial year ending 30 September 2003 and the
offer price is at or above a higher specified target level
ger share, again, the option may be partially exercised.
in both cases the shares over which the option may be
exercised is the number of those shares which equates,
on a time apportioned basis, 1o the proportion of the
period from 1 October 2000 to 30 Septernber 2003
which has elapsed at the time of the takeover. Similar
provisions apply in the event of a voluntary kiquidation
or a scheme of reconstruction or amalgamation of the
Company, although, in those dircumstances, the

exercise of the option will be at the discretion of the
Board. Again, the option will only be capable of
exercise in respect of a proportion of the option shares

- dependent on the date 6f occurrence of the ralevant
event,

The Board may, in its discreticn, permit the exercise of
the option if Derek Ashley leaves service bafore 15
January 2004. The option deed also contzins provisions
to adjust the option price, the number of option shares
and the values for the adjusted earnings per share if
the share capital of the Company is varied - for
example, because of a capitalisation issue, rights issue
or a consofidation of shares,

The Company will not agree to make amendments to
the terms of the option in favour of Derek Ashiey
without the prior approval of shareholders {except for
minor amendments to take account, amongst other
things, of a change in legisiatior: or to obtain or
maintain favourable tax or regulatory treatment for the
option). The benefit to Derek Ashiey of the option is
non pensionable.

Pensions and Life Assurance - executive Directors
participate in a contributory final salary pensicn
scheme which is Inland Revenue approved. The
scheme provides, at normal retirement age and subject
to length of service, a pension of up to two thirds of
pensionable salary at retirement subject o a minimurn
of 20 years' service with the Group and subject to
Inland Revenue limits and other statutory rules.
Pension entitlement is calculated by reference to basic
salary only {subject to the earnings cap for pension
purposes) and neither annual bonuses nor benefits in
kind are pensionable. Details of the pension benefits
which accrued duzing the year to the executive
Directors under the scheme are set out below in a
separate tabie. Service as a non-executive Director is
not pensionable. Life assurance cover is provided based
on four times the capped salary. in addition to basic
salary, a supplementary payment is made 1o executive
Directors in order to allow the executive Directors 10
maka their own additionai pension provision. In 2001,
this supplementary payment was 18% for Derek
Ashiey, and 24% for Dennis Holt - in each case of the
difference between the earnings cap and the basic
salary. These payments are shown in the table below
under "Payment Above Pension Cap”.

Other benefits - afforded to the executive Directors
include private health care insurance, permanent
health insurance (to secure income in the event of ill
heaith or disability) and a company car or eguivalent
monetary value. The value of the taxable benefits of
the executive Directors for the year ended 30
September 2001 are shown in the table below under
“Taxable Benefits”.




Directors’ Repaort

Termination

The provisions regarding the termination by the
Company of the service contracts for Derek Ashley,
David Walton and Dennis Holt are as follows:

The Company may terminate the contracts of Derek
Ashley and David Walton by giving not less than
twelve months’ notice and in the case of Dennis Holt
by giving not less than twenty four months’ notice.
However, the compensation payable by the Company
would be subject to the normal legal principles of
mitigation of loss. No compensation would be payable
it the service contracts were 1o be terminated by notice
from Derek Ashiey, David Walton or Dennis Holt
respectively, or for lawful early termination by the
Company.

In concluding the service contracts for Derek Ashley
and David Walton, the Commitiee had due regard to
the provisions of the Combined Code regarding
Corporate Governance appended to the Listing Rules
of the UK Listing Authority, including the provision
referring to the notice periods for service contracts. In
relation to Dennis Holt, the two year notice period has
haen a feature of his service cantract for many years
and is not inconsistent with the practice of many listed
companies. For those reasons and in the light of his
long service with the Campany, the Committee had
not sought to re-negotiate the notice peried in his
service contract following the introduction of the
Combined Code. Following his resignation as a
Director of the Company cn 3 Decembear 2001, the
Company, through the Remuneration Committee, will
negotiate terms with Dennis Holt in relation to the
termination of his service contract. Those negotiations
have commenced but have not been concluded at the
date of this Report.

In relation to future appeintments of executive
Directors, the Committee’s policy will be to restrict
notice periods for terminating service contracts to one
year - although the Board may, in appropriate
circurnstances, offer longer initial notice periods which
would reduce 1o one year.

David Hudd is the Director retiring by rotation at the
forthcoming Annual General Meeting and, being
eligible, offers himself for re-election in accordance
with the Company’s Articles of Association. David
Hudd does not have a service contract with the
Company.

Derek Ashiey, Richard Wright and David Walton were
all appointed o the Board following the 2001 Annuat
General Meeting. Under the provisions of the
Company's Articles of Association, they will each retire
at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting and,
being eligible, each will offer himself for election at

that meeting. Derek Ashley and David Walton both
have service contracts with the Company terminable
by the Company on 12 months’ notice. Richard Wright
does not have a service contract with the Company.

Non-executive Directors

The Company’s practice is to appoint non-executive
Directors under letters of engagement rather than
under service contracts. Those letters of engagement
set out fixed terms of appointment which may be
extended with the agreement of the Board, David
Hudd currently serves the Company as non-executive
Chairman. His initial term of appointment expired on 1
July 2001 and was extended for a further three years
from that date. John Sheldrick’s term was extended for
a further three years on @ February 2001. Richard
Wright was appointed 1o the Board on 3 September
2001 for a term of three years expiring on 2
September 2004.

from 3 September 2001 Moger Woolley's appointment
as a non-executive Director is under the terms of an
engagement tetter which are similar to those of the
other non-executive Directors, although the
appointment terrminates at the condusion of the
Annual General Meeting on 5 February 2002.




DETAILS OF DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND EMOLUMENTS

The remuneration of the Chairman and other non-executive Directors consists only of annual fees for their services
both as mernbers of the Board and of the Committees cn which they serve.

In the years to 30 September 2001 and 30 September 2000 Derek Ashley and Michael Smith respectively were the
highest paid Directors and their aggregate emoluments {exciuding the compensation package of £740,702 paid to
Michael Smith foliowing the termination of his service contract with the Company in July 2000) were as foilows.

2C00/2001 199942000
£7000 £000

B Ashley M Smith
313 333
Remuneration as shown in the table below ‘ 313

Aggragate emoluments

333

The remuneration and taxable benefits in kind {excluding pension benefits and share options) provided for and
received by each Director during the year to 30 September 2001 were as follows:

Payment Bonus
Salary/ Taxable Above and
Fees Benefits Pension cap Cther Total {Prior yn)
£000 £000 £1000 £:000 £'000 £000
Executive
D Ashley 172 30 19 92 313 -
D J Hoit 145 15 13 - 173 165
3 M Woolley 43 - - - 43 34
M J Smith - - - - - 333
Non-executive
J M Woctiey 40 - ~ - 40 47
I N Sheldrick 25 - - - 25 21
D L Hudd 28 - - - 28 21
R € Wright P -

- - 2 -

Moger Woolley was appointed Executive Chairman on 10 July 2000 and remained in that role until Derek Ashley
joined the Company on 15 January 2001. Accordingly, the above tables show separately the fees paid to him as
Executive Chairman and the fees paid to him as non-executive Chairman from 15 fanuary 2001,

The "Taxable Benefits” for Dennis Holt included a payrnent for the equivalent monetary value of providing 2
company car which, during the year, amounted to £11,250.

The “Bonus and Other” for Derek Ashley included a payment of £32,000 made to him as a “golden helio”

when he joined the Company in January 2001, and an accrued bonus payment of £60,000 for the year to

30 September 2001 - being the minimum bonus entitlement payabie to him for the year pursuant to the terms of
his service contract with the Company. The "Taxable Benefits” for Derek Ashley included £8,500 expenses relating
1o his relocation ta the UK from the USA on his joining the Campany in January 2001. “Taxable Benefits” also
included costs (totalling £13,000) relating to the provision for Derek Ashley of accommodation in Cheshire which
were borne by the Company {for the better performance of his duties as Group Chief Executive of the Campany);
these costs include rent, rates and other outgoings payable in respect of that accommodation.

DIRECTORS’ PENSION ENTITLEMENTS

The pensior entitlements shown: below are those which would e paid annually on retirement based on sefvice o
the end of the year:

D Ashley D J Molt

Age 41
Years of service at 30 September 2001 -
Increase in accrued pension {after allowing for statutory revaluation) during the year 1,400
Transfer value of the increase in accrued pension 3,000
Accurmulated total accrued pension at 30 September 2001 1,400

The accumulated total accrued pension to which Michael Smith was entitied at the date of leaving was,




tors’ Report

The increase in accrued pension during the year excludes any increase for infiation. The transfer value has been
calcuiated on the basis of actuarial advice in accordance with Actuarial Guidance Note GN11, less Directors’
contributions {if any). Members of the scheme have the option to pay additional voluntary contributions. Such
contributions {if any) and the resulting benefits are not reflected in the above table.

DIRECTORS® INTERESTS IN SHARES
The share opticns of the executive Directors may be summarised as follows:

Share Optiens Date of No of No of Exerciseabie Exercise Expiry
Grant Shares shares Price From Date

O Ashley D J Holt

Opening 19939/2000 23/06/95 - 20,000 454p  24/06/1998 23/06/2005
03/01/96 - 25,000 S53p 04/01/1999 03/01/2008
11/06/97 - 15,000 €94p 12/06/2000 11/06/2007
01/06/98 - 15,060 642.5p 02/06/2001 01/06/2008
23/12/98 - 31,452 310p 2411272001 23/12/2008
20/12/99 - 31,250 336p 21/12/2002 20/12/2009
- 137,702
Granted 2000/2001 05/05/01 571,428 - 126p  15/01/2004 04/06/2011

Exercised during year - -

Closing options 571,428 137,702

No options lapsed during the year. No options were exercised in the year or in the previous year. The mid market
price of the Company's shares at 28 September 2001 {30 September 2001 being a Sunday) was 74 pence and the
range during 2000/2001 was 74 pence to 250 pence.

in addition o the share options set out above, the interests of the Directors and their immediate families in the
shares of the Company (including share options as above), according to the register required to be kept pursuant
to the Companies Act 1985 were as shown below:

Ordinary Shares Onptions over Ordinary 25p Share

30/05/C1 30/05/00 30/09/01 30/09/00

1 M Woolley 40,000 40,000 - -
D Ashley - - 571,428 ~
D J Holt 23,000 23,000 137,702 137,702
D L Hudd 10,000 10,600 - -
J N Sheldrick 12,857 12,857 - -

R C Wright - - _

Save as mentioned above, from 30 September 2001 to 3 December 2001 there were no changes in the above
interests. All the above interests were beneficial at the above dates. Derek Ashley, David Walton and Dennis Holt
were, at the date of this Report, deemed to be interested as discretionary beneficiaries of the Company's executive
share option schemes in all the 588,000 Ordinary Shares of the Company held by the API Group plc No.2
Employee Benefit Trust. On 1 October 1997 the trust waived all future dividends in respect of the Company’s
shares held by the Trust. Save as mentioned above, no Director had any interest in any share capital of the
Company o of any subsidiary.

By order of the Board

T K Johnston, LLB
Secretary
Macclesfieid

3 Decernber 2001




Auditors’ Report

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF AP GROUP PLC

We have audited the accounts on pages 24 to 44 which have been prepared under the historical cost convention
as modified by the revaluation of certain fixed assets and the accounting policies set out on pages 30 and 31,

RESPECTIVE RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND AUDITORS

The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report. As described on page 17, this includes
responsibility for preparing the accounts in accordance with applicable United Kingdom law and accounting
standards. Our responsibilities, as independent auditors, are established in the United Kingdom by statute, the

Auditing Practices Board, the Listing Rules of the Financial Services Authority and by our profession’s ethical
guidance.

We report to you our opinion as to whether the accounts give a true and fair view and are properly prepared in
accordance with the Companies Act 1985. We also report to you if, in our opinien, the Directors’ report is not
consistent with the accounts, if the company has not kept proper accounting records, if we have not received all
the information and explanations we require for cur audit, or if the information specified by law or the Listing
Rules regarding Directors’ remuneration and transactions with the Group is not disclosed.

We review whether the corporate governance statement on page 14 reflects the Company’s compliance with the
seven provisions of the Combined Code specified for our review by the Listing Rules, and we repart if it does not,
We are not required to consider whether the Board’s statements on internal control cover ail risks and contrals, or

form an opinion on the effectiveness of either the Group’s corporate governance procedures or its risk and control
precedures.

We read the other informaticn contained in the Annual Report, including the corporate governance statement,
and consider whether it is consistent with the audited accounts. We consider the implications for our report if we
becomne aware of any apparent misstatements or material inconsistencies with the acoounts,

BASIS OF AUDIT OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Auditing Standards issued by the Auditing Practices Board. An audit
includes examination, on a test basis, of evidence relevant to the amounts and disclosures in the accounts. It also
includes an assessment of the significant estimates and judgements made by the Diractors in the preparation of

the accounts, and of whether the accounting policies are apprapriate to the Group's circumstances, cansistently
applied and adequately disclosed.

We pianned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the information and explanations which we considered
necassary in order to provide us with sufficient evidence to give reasonable assurance that the accounts are free
from material misstaternent, whether caused by fraud or other irregularity or error. In forming our opinion we also
evaluated the overall adequacy of the presentation of information in the aceounts.

OPINION

In our opinicn the accounts give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Comgany and of the Group as

at 30 September 2001 and of the loss cf the Group for the year then ended and have been properly prepared in
accordance with the Companies Act 1985,

e gy LLE

Ernst & Young LLP
Registered Auditor
Manchester

3 December 2001




Group Profit & Loss Account

for the year ended 30 September 2001

2001

Continuing Operations

2000

Continuing Operations

Before

Before

exceptional  Exceptional exceptional  Exceptional
iterns and iterns and iterns and items and
goodwill goodwill gootwill goodwill
amortisation  amortisation Total amortisation  amortisation Total
Nate £000 £:00C £000 £009 £000 £000
Turnover 2 183,440 - 183,440 188,772 ~ 188,772
Cost of sales (149,764) (21,255) (171,019) (142,930) (12,879) (155,809)
Including goodwill amortisation - (846) (846) - (1,112} (1,112
Gross profit 33,676 (21,255) 12421 45842 (12879) 32,963
Distribution costs {(8,249) (88) (8,337) (7,800) - (7,800)
Administrative expenses {28.328) {4,067) (32,395} {25,780) (2,740} - {28,520)
Operating (loss)/profit 3 (2,901) (25.410) (28,311) 12,262 (15619 (3.357)
Profitfloss) on disposal of land and buildings - 33 33 - 97) 97
(Loss)/profit on ordinary activities
before interest and taxation {2,901y (25,377) (28,278) 12,262 (15,716) (3,454)
Net interest expense 4  (1,642) - (1.642) (677} - {677}
{Loss)/profit on ordinary activities
before taxation (4,543) (25.377) {29,920) 11,585 (15,716) 4,i31)
Taxation 6 398 - 398 (2,994 1,109 (1,885) :
(Loss)/profit on ordinary activities :
after taxation {a,18%) (25,377) (29,522) 8,591 {14,607 (6,016) -
Profit attributable to minority equity interests (084} - (984) (1,144) - (1,144
(Loss)profit attributable to
ordinary shareholders (5,129) (25,377) {30,505) 7,447 {14,607} (7,160)
Ordinary dividends 7 - - - (5,060} - (5,060}
Balance transferred (from) reserves 21 {5.129) (25,377 (30,506) 2,387 {14607 (12,220
Earnings per ordinary 25p share
Basic 8 (15.4)p (21.7)p 22.4p (21.5)p
Diluted 8 (154%p (91.7)p 22.4p (21.5%
Dividends per ordinary 25p share 7 ~ -  151% 15.18p




Group Balance Sheet
at 30 September 2001

2001 2000
£000 £000
Fixed assets .
Intangible assets 6,859 20,162
Tangible assets 66,054 €1,722
Investmeants 435 1,499
Current assets
Stocks 23,189 30,355
Debtors 42,852 52,444
Shert term investments 1,283 -
Cash at bank and in hand 7.088 8,502
74,412 91,301
Creditors - amounts falling due within one year 16 {69,482) {63,783
Net current assets 4,930 27,518
Total assets less current liabilities 78,278 110,901
Creditors - amounts falling due
after more than one year 17 (205) (304)
Provisions for liabilities and charges 18 {1.366) (4,197)
Accruals and deferred income {1,007) (274
75,700 106,126
Minority interests {6,630) (7,083)
69,070 99,043
Share capital and reserves
Called up share capital 20 8,463 8,463
Share premium account 21 50,563 50,563
Revaluation reserve 21 2,616 2,616
Capital redemption reserve 21 549 549
Profit and loss account 21 6,879 36,852
680,607 80,580
Equity shareholders’ funds 69,070 99,043

D Ashiey Group Chief Executive

3 Decemper 2001




26 APl Group plc

Company Balance Sheet

at 30 September 2001

2001 2001 2000 2000
Hote £000 £000 £000 £000
Fixed assets
Tangible assets 10 274 276
Investments 11 435 1,489
Subsidiary undartakings 12 73,701 74,410 82,701 84,476
Current assets
Debtors 14 23.271 19,515
Cash at bank and in hand 13,225 1,383
36,496 20,898
Creditors - amounts falling due within one year 16 [12,720) 6,277
Net current assets R 23,776 14,621
Total assets fess current liabilities 98,186 99,097
Provisions for liabilities and charges 18 (171} (365)
98,015 98,732
Share capital and reserves
Calied up share capital 20 8,463 8,463
Share premium account 21 50,562 50,563
Revaluztion reserve 21 6 6
Capital redemption reserve 21 549 549
Merger reserve 21 23,548 23,548
Profit and loss account 21 14,886 15,603
89,552 90,269
Equity shareholders’ funds 98,015 88,732

D i,

D Ashley Group Chief Executive 3 December 2001




Cash Flow Statement

For the year ended 30 September 2001

Recondiliation of operating loss to net cash inflow from operating activities

2001

2000
£000 £000
QOperating loss (28,311) {3.357)
Amortisation and depreciation less government grants 8,058 8,360
Impairment charge against intangible assets 12,850 -
Impairment charge against fixed assets and investments 1,693 7,806
Loss on disposal of fixed assets other than land and buildings 161 110
Decreasefincrease) in stocks 7,302 (8,423)
Decrease/(increase) in debtors 9,182 (413)
{Decreaselincrease in creditors {1,326) 1,037
(Decrease)increasa in provisions {2,837) 3,383
Net cash inflow from operating activities 6,772 8,703
Cash outflow of £6,984,000 (2000: £1,722,000) resulted from the exceptionai charges incurred during the financial
years 2000 and 2001.
2001 2001 2000 2000
E00G £000 £000 £'000
Cashflow statement
Net cash inflow from operating activities 6,772 8,703
Returns on investments and servicing of finance
Interest paid {1.807) {820
Interest received 165 143
Dividends paid to minority interests (1.490) (3.132) (529 (1,206)
Taxation
UK {308) {2,880)
Overseas (500) (808) (1,067) (3.947)
Capital expenditure and financial investment
Payments to acquire tangible fixed assets {13,378) (12,648}
Receipts from sales of tangiple fixed assets 1,017 1,390
Payments to acquire investments - (629)
Receipt of government grants 860 {11,501) 274 (11,613)
Acquisitions and disposals {Note Q) (139) {3.798)
Equity dividends paid (2.679) {5,076)
Net cash outflow before use of management of
liquid resources and financing {11,682 {16,937
Management of liguid resources
Increase in short term investments (1,283) -
Financing
increase in short term borrowing 12,055 18,782
Capital element of finance lease rental payments - 12,055 {33) 18,749
(Decrease)/increase in cash in the period (910) 1,812
Exchange movement 12 853
Balance sheet movement in net cash (898) 2,671




Cash Flow Statement

For the year ended 30 September 2001

Notes to the cash flow statement
A. Analysis of net debt

Cash Exchange

2000 flow difference 2001

£000 £000 £000 £000
Cash at bank and in hand 8,502 {1,426) 12 7,088
Bank overdraft (1,762) 516 - {1,246)
Cash 6,740 (810} 12 5,842
Short term invastrment in Chinese Government bonds - 1,283 - 1,283
Short term borrowing {18,782) (12,055 39 {30,798)
Net debt (12,042) (11,682) 51 (23,673}
B. Reconciliation of net cash flow to movement in net debt

2001 2000
£000 £7000

{Decrease)increase in net cash (910) 1,812
Repayment of capital elements of finance leases - 33
Increase in short term investments 1,283 -
Increase in short term barrowing (12,055) {18,782)
Change in net debt resulting from cash flows (11,682) (16,937)
Exchange differences 51 859
Movement in net debt (11,631) (16,078)
Net (debt)/funds at start of year (12,042} 4,036
Net debt at end of year {23,673) {12,042)
The comparative figures have been reclassified to reflect the revised presentation for the current year.

C. Analysis of the net outflow of cash in respect of the acquisition of subsidiary undertakings

and businesses

Gold
Impressions Total
2001 £000 £000
Cash consideration paid 139 139
Net outflow in respect of acquisitions 139 139
Gold
Chromagem Goodstrack Impressions Caerphilly Total
2000 £000 £'000 £7000 £7000 £'000
Cash consideration paid 1,811 180 128 1,764 3,883
Cash at bank and in hand acquired (85} - - - {85)
Net outfiow in respect of acquisitions 1,726 180 128 1,764 3,798




Other Statements

2001 2000
£000 £'000
Statement of total recognised gains and losses
Loss for the financial year (30,506) (7,160)
Currency translation differences
on foreign currency net investments 533 4,118
Total gains and losses recognised since last
annuai report and accounts (29,973) (3,042)
2001 2000
£000 £:000
Recondiliation of movements in shareholders’ funds
Loss for the financial year (30,506) (7,160)
Dividends - (5,060}
Currency translation differences
on foreign currency net investments 533 4,118
Net deduction to shareholders’ funds (29,973) (8,102)
Opening shareholders’ funds 99,043 107,145
Closing shareholders’ funds 69,070 99,043




Notes to the Accounts

1, ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Accounting convention

The accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention except for the inclusion of certain assets
which are at valuation and have been prepared in accordance with applicable accounting standards.

Basis of consolidation

The group accounts consolidate the accounts of API Group ple and its subsidiary undertakings. The results for the
year ended on the accounting date are included in the Group results in full except where subsidiary undertakings are
acquired or soid guring the year when resuits are induded from or 1o the date of acquisition or sate.

Turnover
Turnover represents amounts invoiced to third parties excluding value added tax.

Fixed assets

The transitional provisions of FRS 15 have been adopted whereby the tangible fixed assets reflect previous
revaluations but no future revaluations will be accounted for. Land and buiidings were last revalued at 28 September
1996. The Group’s policy is not to capitalise finance costs.

Depreciation
Freehold land is not depreciated. The cost or valuation of ather fixed assets is written off in equal annual instalments
over the expected useful lives as follows:
Freehold buildings and long leasehold properties
Short leasehold properties

14 10 50 years
over period of lease

Piant - 510 20 years
Vehidles — 4 years
Furniture and equipment — 310 10 years

The carrying values of tangible fixed assets are reviewed for impairment if events or changes in circumstances
indicate the carrying value may not be recoverable,

Grants

Government grants in respect of capital expenditure are credited 1o & deferred income account and are refeased to
profit over the expected useful lives of the relevant assets by equal annual instalments. Grants of a revenue nature
are credited to income so as to match them with the expenditure to which they relate.

Research and development

Expenditure in respect of rasearch and development is charged to the profit and ioss account in the year in which it
is incurred.

Stock and work in progress

Stocks are stated at the lower of cost and estimated net rezalisable value. Cost is determined on a first in first out
basis. Cost of work in progress and finished goods comprises the cost of raw materials, direct labour and overheads
attributable to the production of stock. Net realisable value comprises the estimated selling value less selling costs.

Deferred taxation
Provision is made for deferred taxation, using the liability method, on all material timing differences 1c the extent
that it is probable that the liability will crystallise. Full provision is made for timing differences related to pensions.
Deferred taxation is not provided in respect of the effects of remitting overseas earnings to the United Kingdom.




1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Pensions

NON-CONTRIBUTORY PENSION SCHEMES

Admissicn to the Group's non-contributery schemes has ceased, the principal cnes ceasing admission on 31 March
1974. The provision for future payments under the schemes is shown in the balance sheet at their net present value
as estimated by the Group’s actuary. The profit and loss account is charged with the change in the estimated net
present value over the financial year, together with interest an the provision at the commencemant of the year.

PENSION AND UFE ASSURANCE FUNDS

Pension costs are recognised on a systematic basis so that the cost of providing etirernent benefits to members are
evenly matched, so far as possible, to the service lives of the members concerned. Any excess or deficiency of the

actuarial value of assets over the actuarial vaiue of liabilities of the pension funds is allocated over the average
remaining service lives of the current members.

Foreign currencies - group

The assets and liahilities of overseas subsidiary undertakings are translated at rates ruling at the balance sheet date
and trading iterns at the average rate for the period. The exchange differences arising on the translation of foreign

subsidiary undertakings accounts are taken directly to reserves. Ail other translation differences are taken to the
profit and loss account.

Foreign currencies - company

Transactions in foreign currencies are recorded at the rate ruling at the date of the transaction or at the contracted
rate if the transaction is covered by a forward foreign currency contract. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rate of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date or, if appropriate, at
the forward contract rate. All differences are taken to the profit and loss account.

Goodwill

From 5 Qctober 1997 goodwili is capitalised and amortised over its useful economic life subject to a maximum of

20 years. The Group previously wrote off goodwili against reserves as it arose, Goodwill previously written off to
reserves has not been reinstated.

The carrying value of goodwill is reviewed for impairment at the end of the first full year following acquisition and in
other periods if events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying value may not be recoverable.

If a subsidiary or business is subsequently sold or closed, any goedwill arising on acquisition that was written off
directly to reserves or that has not been amortised through the profit and loss account is taken into account in
determining the profit or loss on sale or closure.

Leases
The costs of operating leases are charged to the profit and loss account in equal annual instalments over the periods
of the leases.

Fixed assets heid under finance lease arrangernents are capitalised and depreciated over their estimated usefuf {ives.
The finance charges are allocated over the period of the lease in proportion to the capital element outstanding.
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2. SEGMENTAL ANALYSIS
Analysis of turnover by destination

2001 2000

£000 £000

United Kingdom 81,930 88,145
Continental Europe 51,046 49,110
Americas 30,870 33,031
Rest of Waorld 19,594 18,486
183,440 188,772

Analysis of turnover, profit/(loss) before interest and tax, and net assets by origin

Profit/(toss) before Net,
Turnover interest and tax operating assets
2001 2060 2001 2000 200 2000
£°D00 £000 £000 £'000 £0C0 £000
United Kingdom 138,192 141,774 (983) 7,608 68,827 70,512
Continental Europe 2,580 2,506 87 185 950 494
Americas 29,853 33,388 {4,590} 1,839 17,344 25,930
Rest of World 12,815 11,104 2,585 2,620 5,480 7,527

183,440 188,772 (2,901) 12,262 82,601 104,463
Exceptional items and
goodwilt amortisation - - (25,377) (15,716) - -
Non operating assets - - - (23,531} {5,420}

1

183,440 188,772  (28,278) (3,454) 69,070 99,043

TJurnover originating in the United Kingdom includes £56,517,000 of sales to overseas destinations (2000:
£54,196,000). £10,839,000 (2000: £15,016,000) of the exceptional items and goodwill amortisation arse in the UK,
£14,286,000 (2000: £610,000) arise in the Americas and £152,000 (2000: £90,000) arise in the Rest of Worid.

Analysis of turnover, profit/{ioss) before interest and tax, and net assets by activity

Profitloss) before Net
Turnever interest and tax operating assets
2001 2000 2001 2000 2001 2000
£000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £000 £000
Foils and laminates 111,229 116,655 2,382 12,655 56,702 68,268
Metallised paper 24,377 20,774 (2,872) {1,706) 8,364 8,554
Converted products 47,834 51,343 197 3,904 27,535 27,641
Central costs - - (2.608) (2,591} - -

183,440 188,772 (2,901} 12,262 92,601 104,463

Exceptional items and
goodwill amortisation - (25,377) {15,716} - -
Non operating assets - - - - (23,531) (5,420)

183,440 183,772  (28,278) {3.454) 69,070 99,043

Net operating assets comprise total assets excluding goodwill and investments less current liabiities and

exclude dividends, taxation, minority interests and ali assets and liabilities of a financing nature. £18,773,000
(2000: £2,723,000) of the exceptional items and goodwill amortisation relate to the foils and laminates division,
£3,061,000 (2000: £9,839,000) relate to the metallised paper division, £2,472,000 (2000: £569,000} relate to the
converted progucts division and £1,064,000 (2000; £2,585,000) are central costs.

The comparative figures have been reclassified to reflect the revised presentation for the current year,




3. OPERATING LOSS
Operating loss is stated after charging

Amortisation and depreciation -
tess government grants £171,000 (200Q: £nil)
Exceptional cost of sales
Exceptional distribution expenses
Exceptional administrative expenses
Hire of plant
Other operating lease costs
Research and development costs written off
Auditors’ remuneration — audit services
- non audit services - UK
— overseas

2001
£900

8,058
20,409

4,067
1,047
979
2,098
2533
88

58

2000
000

€,560
11,767
2,740
812
927
2,333
234
293
60

Recurring non audit services principally comprise tax compliance fees. Non-recurring non audit services principally

comprise due diligence work for which the adviser is selected separately for each engagement.

Exceptional items charged against operating loss comprise

2001

2000
£000 £/000
Restructuring of operating businesses 10,650 12,059
Impairment of intangible assets 12,850 -
Provision against cwn shares held in ESOP 1,064 959
Other - 1,489
24,564 14,507
& NET INTEREST EXPENSE
2001 2000
£'00G £000
Interest payable on bank loans and overdrafts (1,807} {820}
Interest receivable 165 143
Net interest expense (1,642) 677)
5. EMPLOYMENT COSTS - INCLUDING DIRECTORS
2001 2000
£000 £600
The total group employment costs were:
Wages and salaries 38,559 36,745
Employers’ national insurance and similar costs 3,117 3,278
Pensions {note 18):
Provided under non-contributory pension schemes 293 219
Contributions provided under pension and life assurance funds 1,386 1,602
43,355 41,844
Average number of persons employed
2001 2000
Foils and laminates 1,061 1,094
Metaliised paper 163 184
Converted products 547 570
AP Group plc 10 11
1.781 1,859

Details of the rernuneration of each director, pension entitlements and interests in share options are incfuded in the

Directors’ Repart on pages 17 to 22.
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6. TAXATION
2001 2000
£000 £000
Corporation tax payable at 30% (2000: 30%} - 1,385
Overseas taxation (218} 686
Prior year adjustments {895} 358
Deferred taxation 715 (544)
(398) 1,885
The taxation {credit)/charge has been reduced/{increased) by:
Accelerated capital allowances (292) 660
Tax losses not racognised {2,732) -
US goodwill impairment charge not recognised {3,000} -
Other deferred tax not provided 286 (2,439
Prior year adjustments 895 {358)
Prior year deferred tax adjustrnents (2.229) -
Non gualifying costimpairment provision (470) (457)
Other factors {1,036) {530)
{8,578) (3,124)
A full taxation {credit) at 30% {20001 20%)
on the loss before taxation would be (8,9786) (1,239)
7. DIVIDENDS
Ordinary
2001 2000 2001 2000
Pence Pence
per share per share £000 £'000
interim paid - 6.55 - 2,186
Proposed final payable - 8.64 - 2,874
- 15.19 - 5,060
8. EARNINGS PER SHARE
2001 2001 2000 2000
Earnings per share are based on Pence £000 Perce £,000
Loss attributable to ordinary shareholders ©1.71}  (30,506) (21.53) {7,160)
Add exceptional items 73.75 24,531 4391 14,604
Add goodwill 2.54 846 3.34 1,112
Less tax relief - - (3.33) (1,109)
Adjustad {lossVprofit attributable to ordinary shareholders (15.42) {(5,129) 22.39 7447

Management consider that EPS calculated on the adjusted {ioss)/profit is an appropriate and consistent measure of

the Group's performance.

2001 2000

Basic weighted average number of ordinary shares 33,262,578 33,262,578
Dilutive potential ordinary shares

Employee share options - -

Dituted weighted average number of ordinary shares 33,262,578 33,262,578

The weighted average number of shares exclude the shares owned by the APl Group pic No.2 Employee Benefit
Trust,




9. INTANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS

Goodwill
Group Company
2001 2001
£000 £000
Cost
At beginning of year 22,820 -
Foreign exchange movement 161 -
At end of year 22,981 -
Amortisation
At beginning of year 2,658 -
Impairment 12,850 -
Provided during period 846 -
Foreign exchange movement {232 -
At end of year 16,122 -
Net book value at end of year 6,859 -

Goodwill arising on acguisitions is being amortised evenly over the Directors’ estimate of its useful economic life
which is 20 years for Astor Universal and Shen Yong, and 5 years for Goodstrack.

The impairment provision relates mainly to goodwill in the US business. A 10% discount rate has been used to

calculate the impairment required.

10. TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS

Group
Leasehold
Freehold Freehold Land & Buildings Plant &
iand Buildings Long Short Equipment Total
£000 £900 £000 £'000 £'000 £000
Cost or valuation
At beginning of year 4,646 14,726 3,848 360 90,590  114,17C
Additions - 985 5 10 12,378 13,378
Foreign exchange movement 15 52 7 1 86 171
Disposals (105) (360} - (82) (8,231) (8,778)
At end of year 4,556 15,403 3,860 289 94,833 118,941
Being:
Cost 2,128 10,438 1,478 67 94,833 108,992
Professionai valuation 1996 2,430 4,915 2,382 222 - 9,949
4,556 15,403 3,860 239 94,833 118,941
Depreciation
At begirning of year - 1,703 604 272 49,869 52,448
Provided during period - 560 178 5 6,641 7,384
Write down of assets not in use - - - - 629 629
Fareign exchange movement - 15 N ~ 45 59
Dispasals - (66) - {80) (7,487) (7,633)
At end of year - 2,212 781 197 49,697 52,887
Net book value at end of year 4,556 13,191 3,079 92 45,136 66,054

Revaluation of land and buiidings

The Group’s UK land and buildings were revalued as at 28 September 1996 by Edward Rushton Son & Kenyon,
International Surveyors and Valuers cn an open market value for existing use basis.

The USA land and buildings were similarly revalued by AF Appraisal Company (professicnal vaiuers).
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10. TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS (CONTINUED)
The potential liability for deferred taxation on the revaluation reserve is regarded as remote and therefore not quantified.
If stated under historical cost principles the comparable cost of land and buildings is £21,492,000. The difference

between the historical cost depreciation charge and the actual charge, calculated on revalued amounts, is
insignificant in terms of the reported loss for the year and net carrying value of land and buildings.

Company
Freehold Plant &

Land Equipment Total

£000 £000 £000
Cost
At beginning of year 198 419 617
Additions - 63 63
Disposals - 72) (72)
At end of year 198 410 608
Depreciation
At beginning of year - 341 341
Provided during period - 28 28
Disposals - (35 (35)
At end of year - 334 334
Net book value at end of year 198 76 274
11. FIXED ASSET INVESTMENTS
Own shares

Group Company
2001 2000 2001 2000
£000 £000 £'000 £000

Cost
At beginning of year 2,513 1,884 2,513 1,884
Additions - 629 - 629
At end of year 2,513 2,513 2,513 2,513
Provision
At beginning of year {1,014) (61) {1,014 &1
Provided during period (1,064} (953) (1,064) {953)

At end of year (2,078} {1,014} (2,078) (1,014)

Net book value at end of year 435

1,498 435 1,499

During 1997 a discretionary trust was established to facilitate the operation of the Company executive share option
schemes which are described in the Directors’ Report.

At 30 September 2001, the trust held 588,000 ordinary shares at an average cost of 427p per share and a total cost

of £2,513,000. The market value of the shares at 28 September 2001 (30 September 2001 being a Sunday) was 74p
per share and a total value of £435,000 {200C: 255p per share, £1,493,000}.

The purchase of the shares was financed by interest free foans from the Company. Rights to dividends on the shares
held by the trust have been waived by the trustees. The administration costs of the trust are charged to the profit
and loss account, Options (described in the Directors' Report on page 18) over these shares, exercisable at 694p

from June 2000, 642.5p from June 2001, 310p from December 2001, and at 336p from December 2002, have been
conditionally awarded to executive directors and other seniar employees.

During the period a provision was made to reduce the net book value of these shares held by the trust to the year
end market value of 74p per share,




12. SUBSIDIARY UNDERTAKINGS

2001

2000
£000
34,843

49,553

£000
Investment at cost 34,843
Amount due from subsidiary undertakings -
non-trading balances 49,553
84,396
Provisions at beginning of year {1.695)
Provided during the period (9.000)
Net book value at end of year 73,701

84,396
{1,695}

82,701

All the principal subsidiary undertakings operating in the UK are incorporated in England and Wales and are wholly
owned by the Company. APl Foils, Inc. and Learoyd Packaging (USA) Inc. are incorporated and ogerate principally in
the United States of America, and are wholly owned by a subsidiary undertaking of the Company. The Group owns,
through a 100% shareholding in API Asia Limited, a 63.75% interest in APl Wing Fat Limited, a company
incorporated and operating principally in Hong Kong. APl Wing Fat owns an 80% interest in Shanghai Shen Yong
Stamping Foil Company Limited, a company which is incorporated and aperates in the People's Republic of China.

The Company’s principal subsidiary undertakings are listed on page 46.

13. STOCKS
2001 2000
£1000 £000
Raw materials 8,773 10,833
Finished goods and work in progress 14,416 19,522
23,189 30,355
The estimated replacement cost of stock does not differ from the balance sheet value by a material amount.
14. DEBTORS
Group Company
2001 2000 2601 2000
£000 £000 £000 £G00
Under one year
Trade debtors 37.688 46,978 - -
Amounts due from subsidiary undertakings - - 20,808 17,954
Prepayments 2,048 2,354 131 218
Other debtors 1,535 2,053 1 317
Corporation tax 31 - 1,746 999
VAT 737 344 2 27
42,319 51,729 22,738 19,515
QOver one yaar
Pension prepayment 533 - 533 -
Deferred taxation - 715 - -
42,852 52,444 23,271 19,515
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14. DEBTORS (CONTINUED)
Deferred taxation

The major components of the provision for deferred taxation and the amounts not provided for are as follows:

Group Cornpany
Provided Provided Provided Provided
2001 2000 2001 2000
£:000 £000 £000 £000
Future pension payments {115} 115 (115) -
Tax losses 115 - 115 -
Other short term timing differences - 600 - -
- 715 - -
Group Company
Not Not Not Not
Provided Provided Provided Provided
200 2000 2001 2000
£000 £000 £000 £:000
Accelerated capital allowances {a,789) {5,08%) 9 15
Tax losses 2,641 24 102 -
Qther timing differences 5,400 2,571 - 125
3,252 (2,486) 111 140
15, SHORT TERM INVESTMENTS
Group Cormparyy
2001 2000 2001 2000
£000 £006 £4000 £:000
Chinese government bonds 1,283 - - -
1,283 - - -
16, CREDITORS — AMOUNTS FALLING DUE WITHIN ONE YEAR
Group Compary
2001 2000 2001 2000
£000 £000 £000 £/000
Bank overdraft 1,246 1,762 - -
Short term borrowing 30,798 18,782 - -~
Trade creditors 27,818 28,359 - -
Amounts due to subsidiary undertakings - - 12,107 1,858
Other taxes and social security costs 1,604 1,701 48 25
Accruals 3,285 3,666 567 730
Cther creditors 4,731 4,039 - 790
Current taxation - 1,600 - -
Dividends - 2,874 - 2,874
69,482 63,783 12,720 6,277




17. CREDITORS - AMOUNTS FALLING DUE AFTER MORE THAN ONE YEAR

Group Company
200 2000 2001 2000
£000 £000 £000 £000
Other creditors 205 304 - -
205 304 - -

Amounts faling due:
QOther

creditars
a1 2000
£000 £000
fn mare than one year but not mare than two years 66 135
In more than two years but not more than five years 139 169
205 304

18. PROVISIONS FOR LIABILITIES AND CHARGES
Group Company

Restructuring Retirement Retirernent
Provisions Benefits Total Benefits
£'000 £000 £000 £000
Al beginning of year 3,832 365 4,197 365
Charge for year 4,347 1,679 6,026 1,237
Paid/contributions {6,984y {2408  (9,3%0)  (1,964)
Transferred to debtors - 533 533 533
At end of year 1,195 171 1,366 171

The majority of the cash outflows in respect of the restructuring provision at 30 September 2001 are expected to
occur in the next 12 menths.

Pension scheme provisions

The total pension cost for the Group for 2001 was £1,679,000 (2000: £1,821,000). The Group made payments to a
number of schemes during the year including £166,000 (2000: £158,000} charged to the accounts in respect of
Learoyd Group Lid, Morris Plastics Ld, and Filmeast Extrusions Ltd.

Pension scheme assets are managed by independent professional investment managers. The contributions to the
schemes are assessed in accordance with independent actuarial advice and it is the Group's policy that none of the
assets of the funds are invested directly or indirectly in any Group company.

The principal pensicn schemes operate in the UK and North America and further disclosures in respact of these
schemes are set out below:

Principal pension schemes

The Group operates a funded pension scheme for the Company and its UK subsidiaries, providing benefits based on
final pensianabla earnings. The assets of the scherme ace held separately from those of the Group, being invested in
a number of UK and overseas equities, unit trusts and other securities. Contributions to the scheme are charged to
the profit and loss account so as to spread the cost of pensions over members’ working lives with the Group. The
contributions charged are determined by a qualified actuary. An actuarial valuation of the Group’s UK pension
scherme was carrted out as at 3 April 1999 using a Projected Unit Costing method. The assumptions which have the
moast significant effect an the resuits of the review are those relating to the rate of return on investments, the rate of
growth of dwvidends and the rate of increase in salaries and pensions. it was assumed that investrment returns will be
7.5% per annum, UX dividends will grow on average by 4.0% per annum and overseas dividends will grow on

average by 5.5% per annum, salary increases will average 5.5% per anrum and that present and future pensions
will increase at the rate of 3.5% per annum,
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18. PROVISIONS FOR LIABILITIES AND CHARGES (CONTINUED}

The actuarial valuation as at 3 April 1999 showed that the market value of the assets of the APi Group plc Pension
and Life Assurance Fund was £49,632,000 and that the actuarial value of those assets represented 102% of the
benefits which had accrued to members on an ongoing basis. The surplus revealed by the review is being amortised
over 15 years in equal instaiments. After taking account of interest credits on the balance of unamortised surplus
and interest charges on the pensions provision, the pensions charge taken for 2001 is £1,220,000 (2000:
£1,444,000), Group companies have made contributions totalling £1,926,000 at a rate of 10% (2000: £1,870,000,

10%) in accordance with the advice of the Group's actuaries. As a result of the charge and payment the balance
sheet prepayment is £533,000 (2000: £173,000 provision).

The Group continues to pay pensions under three unfunded, non-contributory pension schemes, membership of
which is now closed. A provision of £171,000 stood at 30 September 2001 (2000: £192,000) for the present value
of future payments under these schemes. The charge to the accounts in the year ended 30 Septermnber 2001 was
£17,00C (2000: £19,000) and payments made were £38,000 (2000: £42,000).

AP Foils Inc. has a funded pension scheme. in the context of the Group, this fund does not have a material
deficiency or surplus of assets and there is believed by the Directors to be no material difference between the
funding rate as recommended by actuaries and charged in the accounts and the charge which would have been

required under the provisions of SSAP 24. The charge 1o the accounts in respect of this pansion scheme is £27¢,000
{2000: £200,000).

The additional disclosures required by FRS 17 are set out below

Major assumptions Usited Kingdom  United States

% %
Rate of general increase in saiaries 40 6.0
Rate of increase to pensions in payment 275 3.0
Rate of increase to deferred pensions 25 3.0
Discount rate for scheme liabilities 6.6 7.0
inflation 25 -

These major assumptions have been selected after consultation with the Group’s UK actuaries, YWatson Wyatt, and the
Group’s US actuaries, US Consuiting Group.

The expected long term rate of returns and market values of the assets of the significant defined benefit plans at
30 Septernber 2001 were as foliows:

United ¥ingdem United States
Expected Expected
long term long term
rate of Markat rate of Market
return value return value
% £000 % £000
Market value of assets
Equittes 7.75 31,300 2.0 1,220
Bonds 55 13,300 7.0 170
Cash a5 2,900
6.9 47,500 875 1,390
Present value of scheme liabilities {51,100} (1,700}
Deficit in plans (3,600} (310)




18. PROVISIONS FOR LIABILITIES AND CHARGES (CONTIMUED)
Net assets

Net assets excluding SSAP 24 pension prepayment/provision
Pension deficit - UK

L)
Related deferred tax asset

2001
Group
£'000

68,708
{3,600)
(310) {3,910
1,173

65,971

Reserves

Profit and loss reserve excluding SSAP 24 pension prepayment/provision
Pension deficit - UK

- UsS
Related deferred tax

200
Group
£'000

6,517
(3,600)
(310) (3,910
1,173

19. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

3,780

Details of the treasury operations and funding of the Group are described in the Finandial Review on pages 6 and 7.

CURRENCY EXPOSURES Net foreign currency monetary assetsilisbilities)

2001

Functional currency Sterling Eure European US doilar Other Total

of Group operation £'0C0 £'900 £000 £000 €000

Sterling - (285) (236) 76 172

U5 dollar (315) 146 - 55 {114)
(315) {139} (236) 131 58

CURRENCY EXPOSURES Net foreign currency monetary assets/(liabilities)

2000

Funciional curmency Sterling Euro turopean US doflar Cther Totai

of Groug operation £000 £000 £'060 £000 £000

Sterling - 2,758 540 660 4906

Us dollar {h a3 _ 1 83

(1) 2,841 540 661 4,989

The above table shows the Group’s currency exposures comprising the monetary assets and fabilities of the Group
which afe not denorninated in the functional currency of the operating unit involved. The amounts shown in the
table take into account the effect of forward foreign currency contracts taken out to hedge foreign currency

transactions.

As at 30 Septernber 2000 and 30 September 2001, gains and losses on forward exchange contracts taken out &3

hedges of sales and purchase transactions were not material.
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19. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS {CONTINUED)
INTEREST RATE RISK PROFILE

Financiat liabilities

Financial assets

2001 Non Fixed Fioating Floating
interest rate rate Total © rate
bearing £000 £000 £'000 £'000

Sterling - - (29,246) (29,246) -

Euro - -~ - - 628

Other European - - - - 77

Us dollar {205) - (2,798) {(3,003) 187

Chinese Renminbi - - - - 7,285

Other - - - - 194

Total (205} - {32,044) (32,249) 8,371

INTEREST RATE RISK PROFILE

Financial liabilities Financial assets

2000 Nen Fixed Ficating Floating
interest rate rate Total rate

bearing £000 £000 £000 £000

Sterfing - - (19,887)  (19,887) -
Euro - - - - 2,162
Cther European - - - - 87
Us dollar {304 - (657) (961) 170
Chinese Renminbi - - - - 6,011
Other - - - - 72
Total (304) - (20,544) {20,848) 8,502

The values above exciude short term debtors and creditors other than current asset investments, finance lease
creditors and bank borrowings. The floating rate financial liabilities represent bank overdrafts, which are based on
base rate and short term borrowings, which are based on LIBOR. Undrawn fadilities at 30 September 2001 due for
renewal within one year totalled £12,444,000 (2000: £22,213,000 due for renewal within one year), Other details of
facilities are given in the Financia! Review on page 7. The financial assets comprise cash depaosits on local money
market deposit at call rates and Chinese Government Treasury Bonds with an interest rate of 2.8%. The weighted

average period until maturity for Chinese Government Treasury Bonds is 0.4 years.

The book value and fair value of the Group’s financial instruments are the same, with the exception of other
creditors falling due after more than one year with a book value of £205,000 {2000; £304,000) and a fair value of
£163,000 (2000: £265,000), The weighted average period until maturity of other creditors falling due after more

than one year is 1 year (2 years).

20. SHARE CAPITAL

Authorised
200t 2000
£000 £000
Ordinary shares of 25p each
At beginning of year and end of year 11,635 11,635

£33,850,578 shares in issue — 2000: 33,850,578)

Allotted, Called Up

and Fully Paid
2001 2000
£'000 £000
8,463 8,463

Buring the year, options were granted over 571,428 ordinary shares at 126p per share.

Full exercise of the options granted under the Company's share option schemes would result in the issug, not later
than December 2009, of a further £270,594 ordinary share capital made up of 101,000 shares at 642.5p, 175,000
shares at 553p, 16,000 shares at 455p, 95,000 shares at 454p, 10,000 shares &t 394p, 49,075 shares at 336p,

70,871 shares at 310p and 571,428 shares at 126p.




21. RESERVES

Group Company

2001 2000 200 2000
Share premium account £000 £000 £000 £000
At beginning and end of year 50,563 50,563 50,563 50,563
Revaluation reserve
At beginning and end of year 2,616 2,516 ) 6
Merger reserve
At beginning and end of year - - 23,548 23,548
Capital redemption reserve
At heginning and end of year 549 549 549 549
Profit and loss account
At beginning of year 36,852 44954 15,603 13,798
Foreign exchange translation differences 533 4,118 - -
Balance from profit and loss account (30,506) (12,220) (717) 1,804
At end of year 6,379 36,852 14,886 15,603
Total reserves 60,607 90,580 89,552 90,269

Although the cumulative amount of goadwill written off against reserves cannot be easily ascertained, the amount
written off since 1989 inclusive is £25,824,000 (2000: £25,824,000) of which £1,692,000 {2000: £1,692,000) has

been written off against the profit and loss reserve.

22, PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO MEMBERS OF THE PARENT COMPANY

A loss of £717,000 (2000: profit £6,864,000) has been dealt with in the accounts of the parent company. As
permitted by section 230 of the Companies Act 1985 the Company has not presented its own profit and loss

account.

23. LEASING COMMITMENTS

Leasing comraitments under non-cancellable operating leases were as follows:

Group
Land and
Buildings Leases
2001 2000
£000 £000
Payable in the foilowing year and relating to leases terminating:
Within one year 50 -
Two to five years 266 258
After five years 206 373
522 631

Group
Qther
QOperating Leases

2001 2000
£1000 £000
545 103
550 1,330

1,095 1,433




Notes to the Accounts

24. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

Group Company
2001 2000 2001 2000
£000 £000 £000 £000
Contracted amounts not provided for in these accounts are 895 3,408 - -

25. CONTINGENT LIABILITY

The Company is party 1o a composite banking agreement providing unlimited guarantees between the Company
and its subsidiaries.
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Five Year Record

2001 2000 1999 1998 1997
£000 £000 £000 £7000 £000
Group profit and loss account
Turnover
Centinuing operations 183,440 188,772 176,700 163,678 143,819
Operating {loss)/profit before goodwill amortisation
and exceptional items (2,901) 12,262 18,638 17,806 13,684
Goodwill amortisation (846) (1.112) (948) (479) -
Exceptional items (24,531) (14,604 (1,461) (1,408} -
(Loss)/profit on ordinary activities before interest and taxation (28,278) (3,454} 16,229 15,919 13,684
Interest (expenseyincome (1,642) 677} (323) (254) 297
{Loss)/profit on ordinary activities before taxation (29,920) 4,131 15,906 15,665 13,981
Taxation 398 {1,885} (4,453) (4,261) (3.781)
{Loss)/profit on ordinary activities after taxation (29,522) (5,018} 11,453 11,404 10,2C0
Profit attributable to minority equity interests {984) (1,144) (492) - -
(Loss)/profit for the financial year (20,506) (7,160) 10,961 11,4C4 10,200
Preference dividends - - )] (21) @21
(Loss)/profit attributable to ordinary shareholders (30,506) (7,160) 10,952 11,383 10,179
Ordirary dividends - (5,060)  {4.886) (4,489  (3.4C4)
Transferred {(from)/to reserves {(30,506) (12,220) €,066 6,804 6,775
Group balance sheet
Net assets
Fixed assets 73,348 83,383 77,9589 68,796 40,812
Net current assets 4,930 27,518 36,182 37,567 25018
78,278 116,901 114,181 106,363 66,830
Cther non current liabilities (2,578) {4,775) (1,223 (5,022) (1,317)
Minority interests ' (6,630) {7,083) (5,813} - -
69,070 95,043 107,145 101,34 65,513
Capital employed
Ordinary capital 8,463 8,463 8,463 8,463 7,045
Reserves 60,607 80,580 98,682 92,329 57,919
Equity shareholders’ funds 69,070 99,043 107,145 100,792 64,964
Preference capital ‘ - - - 549 549
69,070 99,043 107,145 101,341 65,513
Statistics relating to ordinary shareholders
Adjusted earnings per share (15.4)p 22.4p 37.9p 41.1p 35.6p
Dividend per ordinary share - 15.19p 14.60p 13.30p 12.10p
Dividend cover (times) - 1.5 2.6 3.1 3.0
Ordinary sharehotders’ equity per share 204p 293p 317p 2938p 231p
Net cash/(borrowings) as & percentage of capital
employed excluding net cash/(barrowings) (25.5)% {108% 3.9% 11.5% 18.5%
Average number of employees 1,781 1,859 1,705 1,424 1,177
£°000's (lossyprofit per employee (1.6) 6.6 109 12.5 11.6
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APl Group plc

Principal Operating Companies

APt FOILS LIMITED

Firth Road, Houstoun Industrial Estate,
Livingston, West Lothian EH54 5D)J
Telephone: 01506 438 611

Fax: 01506 438 262

API UNIVERSAL FOILS LIMITED

Astor Road, Eccles New Road,
Salford M5 2DA

Telephone: 0161 783 8131
Fax: 0161 707 5315

AP FOILS INC

3841 Greenway Circle,
Lawrence KS 66044, USA
Telephone: 001 785 842 7674
Fax: 001 785 842 0652

SHANGHA! SHER YONG STAMPING
FOIL COMPANY LIMITED

20 Peng Jiang Road

Shanghai, China

Telephone: 00 8621 5665 3620
Fax: 00 8621 5665 4298

HENRY & LEIGH SLATER LIMITED

Second Avenue, Poynton Industrial Estate
Payniton, Stockport, Cheshire SK12 1ND

Telephone: 01625 650500
Fax: 01625 650580

AP| TENZA LIMITED

Carlton Park Industrial Estate,
Saxmundham, Suffolk 1P17 2NL
Telephone: 01728 602811

Fax: 01728 604108

LEAROYD GROUP LIMITED

Heasandford Mill, Netherwood Road,
Burnley, Lancashire BB10 2E)
Telephone; 01282 433016

Fax: 01282 430289

APl COATED PRODUCTS LIMITED

Gloucester Road, Cheltenham,
GL51 8NH

Telephone: 01242 512345
Fax; 01242 576633




Financial Catendar

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

To be held at 11.00am, 5 February 2002 at
the London offices of the Company’s Solicitors:
Addleshaw Booth & Co., 25 Cannon Street,
London EC4M 5TB.

REPORTS

Interim Report for 6 months to 31 March 2002
circulated May 2002,

Preliminary Announcement for the year to
30 September 2002, issued November 2002.

Reports and Accounts for the year
to 30 September 2002 circulated December 2002.

CAPITAL GAINS TAX

The market value of an ordinary share cn 31 March
1982 was 60.5p.




Senior Management

APl GROUP

GLOBAL FOIES

Foils Europe

Foils US

Foils China

LAMINATES

METALLISED PAPER

CONVERTED PRODUCTS

Tenza

Coated Products

tearoyd Group

Derek Ashley

Brian Bradbury

Brian Bradbury

Don Kneir

Wu Zu De

Colin Ames

Paul Laskey

Richard Vaughan

Andrew Kirk

Mike O’Neill

Steve Cowie

Second Avenue, Poynton Industrial Estate
Poynton, Stockport, Cheshire SX12 TND
Telephone: 01625 858700

Fax: 01625 858701

www.apigroup.co.uk

Astor Road, Eccles New Road,
Salford M5 2DA

Telephone: G161 7898131
Fax: 0161 7075315
www.api-worldwide,com

328 New Brunswick Avenue, Rahway,
New Jersey 07065, USA

Telephone: 001 732 382 6800

Fax: 001 732 3282 8760
www.api-worldwide.com

20 Peng lJiang Road

Shanghai, China

Telephone: 00 8621 5665 3620
Fax: 00 B621 5665 4298
www.shenyong-stampingioil.com

Second Avenue, Poynton Industrial Estate
Poynton, Stockport, Cheshire SK12 1ND
Telephone: 01625 650500

Fax: 01625 650580
www.api-worldwide.com

Pontygwindy Industrial Estate,
Caerphilly, Mid Glamorgan CF83 3HU
Telephone: 02920 885988

Fax: 02920 863718
www.api-worldwide.com

Carlton Park Industrial Estate,
Saxmundham, Suffolk 1P17 ZNL
Telephone: 01728 602811

Fax: 01728 604108
www.apitenza.co.uk

Gloucester Road, Cheltenham,
GL51 8NH

Telephone: 01242 512345
Fax: 01242 576633
WWAW.api-cop.com

Heasandford Mill, Netherwood Road,
Burnley, Lancashire BB10 2E)
Telephone: 01282 438016

Fax: 01282 430289

www learoyd.co.uk




Designed and produced by Carr Kamasa Design  Printed by Royle Corporate Frint

AP Group ple




